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On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) of
China New Economy Fund Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to
present the Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December
2021 (the “Year").

The Company is a closed-ended investment company established on
1 February 2010. By investing substantially in both private and public
enterprises within a diversified portfolio supported by the new economies
of Greater China, the Company is devoted to achieving long-term capital
appreciation for professional investors.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

During the Year, the Company maintained a long-term investment
strategy in both public and private equities. The Company held sixteen
investments in Hong Kong-listed companies, one investment in Australia-
listed company, six private equity securities investments, three promissory
notes and one unlisted bond as of 31 December 2021. One of our major
investments is in the financial services sector focusing on the Hong Kong
market. The Company reported net loss attributable to shareholders of
HK$4,980,239 during the Year, which consisted of the net change in
fair value gain of HK$7,181,427 taken on the investment positions in the
portfolio.

The investment performance of the Company during the Year is affected
by the slowdown in the Chinese economy and the rising volatility of the
global stock market due to the global pandemic. As at 31 December
2021, the Company reported an audited net asset value of approximately
HK$0.13 per share. The net gain is mainly attributable to both net
unrealised gain of HK$45,602,564 offsetted by net realised loss of
HK$38,421,137 on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as
a result of recent Hong Kong stock market volatility. The Company will
continue to monitor investments cautiously due to recent uncertain market
conditions.
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Chairman’s Statement
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT

During the Year, the outbreak of the coronavirus disease (the
“COVID-19") and its variant Omicron continue to spread out in the entire
world. However, since the vaccine launched in 2021 and the vaccination
rate has been increasing widely, the Company expects the worldwide
confirmed COVID-19 cases will not increase drastically and the pandemic
will have a moderate impact in the future.

China adopted strict public health measures since 2020 and achieved an
effective results. China restored business activities in various industries
in 2021 and the overall national economy is rebounding. According to
the data of the National Bureau of Statistics of China, the gross domestic
product (“GDP") of China in year 2021 increased to RMB114,367 billion
over the corresponding period, which represents an increase of 8.1%
compared with the year 2020. The GDP of the first quarter of 2021
climbed 18.3% and slowed down to 7.9%, 4.9% and 4.0% in the rest of
quarters in 2021 respectively on a year-to-year basis.

Hang Seng Index reduced 14.1% in year 2021. At the same time, Hang
Seng Chinese Enterprises Index, which dropped 23.3%, performed worse
than Hang Seng Index. On the other hand, the United States Federal
Reserve Board (“U.S. Federal Reserve”) remained the interest rates at
0.25% since they cut the interest rates twice in 2020 by 1.5 percentage
point in total. During the “Post COVID-19" period, U.S. inflation rate
accelerates to a 40-Year high of 7.5% in December 2021.

The U.S. GDP grew at an annualized rate of 6.9% through the fourth
quarter of last year, while the GDP increased 5.7% in 2021. The increase
in GDP in 2021 reflected increases in all major subcomponents, led by
nonresidential fixed investment, exports, residential fixed investment,
and private inventory investment. Even though the Omicron is now
the dominant version of the coronavirus in the U.S., the average daily
COVID-19 cases and hospitalisations are continuing to fall, an indicator
that the Omicron’s hold is weakening across the world. It left lots of
uncertainties in the market and these impacts may leave a big rebounce
potential for the GDP growth in U.S. straightly.

Since U.S. inflation rate accelerates to a 40-Year high, the Company
expects it provided a huge room for U.S. Federal Reserve interest hike in
2022. The Company expects U.S. Federal Reserve may interest hike for 3
times and interest rate rise for 1.75 percentage point as total at most in
2022. The Company believes that the change in global monetary policies
will escalate the volatility extremely in global equity market. However,
the Company remains cautiously optimistic on the prospects of securities
market in China and Hong Kong.
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The focus of the Company is to invest in listed securities in short to medium
terms and will continue to seek opportunities to invest in listed companies
with high potential. During the Year, the Company has invested in
Kingland Group Holdings Limited (1751.HK) (“Kingland”). Kingland
is providing concrete demolition service in Hong Kong and Macau. Its
services include removing pieces or sections of concrete from concrete
structures and the demolition of the entire concrete structures or buildings
through methods, such as core drilling, sawing and crushing.

The other focus of the Company is to invest in private equity securities
and other unlisted investments in long term. The Company believes this
strategy can diversify the risk of investments and will potentially bring
greater return in long run with the upcoming reform alongside with
listed investments in portfolio. During the Year, the largest investment in
private equities is Gransing Financial Group Limited (“Gransing Financial”)
which is principally engaged in provision of quality brokerage, corporate
finance, asset management, money lending and financial adviser services
to institutional and individual investors in Hong Kong and Mainland China
through its subsidiaries. With the enhancement of artificial intelligence
("A.l.") technology, Gransing Financial launched several new services
including the online account opening services for new customers in Hong
Kong and China. Gransing Financial’s A.l. analyst would serve their clients
with stock monitoring, investment strategies and stock scoring services.

The Company will continue to look for further investment opportunities
in private equities focusing on health care (including High-Technology
and Online Medical) as well as telecommunication (including Internet
of Things) sectors. The Company will continue to deploy an investment
strategy focusing on Greater China and other global major markets. With
our professional investment and risk management team, we are confident
to capture valuable investment opportunities to maximise profit for our
shareholders.

Huang Bin
BEiREE
Co-Chairman

e

Hong Kong, 29 March 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BRI DT

INVESTMENT REVIEW

The Company held twenty-seven investments as of 31 December 2021,

comprising sixteen equity securities in Hong Kong-listed companies, one

equity security in Australia-listed company, six private equity securities,

three promissory notes and one unlisted bond.

Pursuant to the requirements stipulated in Rule 21.12 of the Rules

Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), the Company discloses its ten largest

investments and all individual investments with value exceeding 5% of the

Company’s gross assets with brief description of the investee companies as

follows:

At 31 December 2021

Listed Equity Securities - Hong Kong

RELE

AARR2021F12A3MHEE -+ LEE
B EPBRETREEELMATERES
—IEBEMN EMAREEES NELERER
HF o ZHAHEBRER-IEIELTES -

RIBBEEBERZMBRRAES LA
([ ETARBI]) 211215 BRI T - AR F]
BEETEGARERMABENEEBROERR

BEEAESHHNRE  ERMRERNER
fpgn T

720215128 31H
L EREE -

Dividend % of

Proportion Netasset  received/ gross
of investee's Unrealised attributable  receivable assets
Place of Particular of issued capital Market  gain/(loss) tothe  during the of the
Name of investee incorporation shares held owned Cost value  recognised Company Year  Company
BAH ANF RMREE AL
i fiEegT  REAR BEARER EigE B/  #EE
FRENAAR RS Rt EALA Ax nE K/ (E8) BE  RURE BAt
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(RtzE1) (Frsk2)
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000 HKS$'000
TERL T T T
(8)  Kingland Group Holdings Limited The Cayman Islands 43,240,000 5.36% 10,910 9,729 (1,181) HK$2.07 - 840
ordinary shares of million
HK$0.01 each
SREELRARLA RERE 43,40,000% 2,070,000
gRAE BT
001 AT BB
(b)  InvesTech Holdings Limited The Cayman Islands 2,129,700 2.53% 5,177 3812 (1,365) RMB8.80 - 329
ordinary shares of million
US$0.01 each
HAERERAR REEE 2,129,700% Nt
shEE 8,800,000
001ETZ ERR
() Beaver Group (Holding) Company The Cayman Islands 26,617,500 9.86% 5,668 3,460 (2,208) HK$7.75 - 299
Limited ordinary shares of million
HKS0.1 each
KHEE (BR)ARAA REEE 26,617,5008% 7,750,000
SRAE o
01ETZERR
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Listed Equity Security — Australia

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S B DT

L - N

Net  Dividend % of
Proportion liability ~ received/ gross
of investee's Unrealised attributable  receivable assets
Place of Particular of capital Market  gain/(loss) to the during of the
Name of investee incorporation issued shares held owned Cost value  recognised Company  theYear  Company
BAH ARF RMREE fFARLE
it BT REAW BEARER EiieE B/  HBEE
FRENAER KLY Rt  EALA RE HE K/ (EE) BE  RURE Al
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(Rtit1) (Frst2)
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000
ThEn TiEL TEn TR
(d)  Crater Gold Mining Limited Australia 35,000,000 2.85% 2,669 3371 702 AUD(0.44) - 291
Ordinary shares million
2 35,000,000 % (440,000)
TEk A
Private Equity Security — British Virgin Islands HREREES ZBEXHE
Dividend % of
Proportion Netasset  received/ gross
of investee's Unrealised attributable  receivable assets
Place of Particular of capital Market  gain/(loss) to the during of the
Name of investee incorporation issued shares held owned Cost value  recognised Company  theYear  Company
BAH ARE  REEE HRRE
i FEERT  RELR BRARER EigE B/  #EE
FRERAEM R 8 Rt ExLH B mE K/ (EE) BE RURE BAk
(Note 1) (Note 3)
(Rtzt1) (R3t3)
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEL T T
(e)  Gransing Financial Group Limited British Virgin Islands 64 shares 18.08% 46,377 18,300 (28.077) HK$26.77 - 15.80
of USD1 each million
AReRETARAA ABRUES G4 B EE 26,770,000
1% kb BT
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Private Equity Securities — Hong Kong

REREEZ-EE

Dividend % of
Proportion Netasset  received/ gross
of investee's Unrealised attributable  receivable assets
Place of Particular of capital gain/(loss) to the during of the
Name of investee incorporation issued shares held owned Cost recognised Company  theYear  Company
o EER ) A0 WAEE  fALW
, fecdf  RELE ’ BRARZA EiEE B/  #EE
FREATAR AL Rt EALH A bE/ (&#8) BE  RURS Al
(No\t\e 1) (Note 3)
(HE1) (H3t3)
HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000
T Tk T
(f)  iPro Financial Press Limited Hong Kong 7,137 shares 19.90% 15,000 489 HK$2.41 - 1337
million
BIEADRARAT Bk 7,137 7 2410000
BT
(9 Help U Credit Finance Limited Hong Kong 37,000 shares 19.95% 19,000 (14132) HK$13.30 - 420
million
EARBRRAT BE 37,000 R 13,300,000
AT
Unlisted Bond — The Cayman Islands HLHES-HEHES
Interest % of
received/ gross
Unrealised accrued assets
Market  gain/(loss) Yield per Maturity during of the
Name of issuer Place of incorporation Cost value  recognised annum date the Year Company
* WEEE AL
\ ‘ ‘ _ EEEAER ) B/ aEE
FRELNRER MR LB 28 i UA(E‘/((E}E)) Fhiz EEE L HEIES Aol
Note 1
(Bz1)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 % HK§'000
Tikn T T Tt
() Oriental Payment Group Holdings The Cayman Islands 15,000 14,989 (1) 10 24 May 2022 908 1294
Limited
RXHERERERAT REES WE5RUR
Promissory Notes - Hong Kong AEEE-&5E
Interest % of
received/ gross
Unrealised accrued assets
Market ~ gain/(loss) Yield per Maturity during of the
Name of issuer Place of incorporation Cost value  recognised annum date the Year Company
. REEE 308
\ ‘ _ EEEAER B/ aEE
fiREARAR AmRIBEY 28 i U&E/((Eﬂﬁ)) Fhiz EEE L HEIES Aol
Note 1
(Bz1)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 % HK$'000
Tt T T Tt
0] Gransmgflnance Limited Hong Kong 11,500 11,499 (1) 8 8 February 2022 365 993
AREEARAA {0 A0%E2A88
() iPro Financial Press Limited Hong Kong 9,000 8,877 (123) 8 21 June 2022 20 766
ESaRARAA B 00256821 E
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S B DT

At 31 December 2020 72020512 H831H
Listed Equity Securities - Hong Kong LHEmES - EE
Dividend % of
Proportion Netasset  received/ gross
of investee’s Unrealised attributable  receivable assets
Place of Particular of capital Market  gain/(loss) to the during of the
Name of investee incorporation issued shares held owned Cost value  recognised Company  theyear  Company
2} £
BAH RER ARF RMREE AERLHE
it ekt  RELA s/ EiEE B/ BgE
fRENREE R Rt  EALA Ax [ (58) BE  RYRS BAM
(Note 4) (Note 2)
(Kizt4) (Mzk2)
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TERL TEn T
CROSSTEC Group The Cayman lslands 23,095,000 3.21% 4083 4388 305 HK$0.49 - 5.65
Holdings Limited ordinary shares of million
HK$0.04 each
HESEERARLA RERE 23,095,000 490,000
SHRAE B
004ETL
InvesTech Holdings Limited The Cayman lslands 41,090,000 2.93% 6,990 3,780 (3,210) RMB15.59 - 487
ordinary shares of million
US$0.02 each
HAERARAR RERE 41,090,000 ARH
ShEE 15,590,007
002%TZ
China Mobile Limited Hong Kong 80,000 - 4678 3,536 (1142) RMB4.49 260 456
ordinary shares million
hEBHERAT (35 80,000% ARH
AR 4,490,000
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB AT

Dividend % of
Proportion Netasset  received/ gross
of investee's Unrealised  attributable  receivable assets
Place of Particular of capital Market  gain/(loss) to the during of the
Name of investee incorporation issued shares held owned Cost value  recognised Company  theyear  Company
BER
kB AER ARF RAEE AT
it fiscRfT  RELF i/ EihEE B/ gE
FREANER Ryt Ri#EE  ERLA A (il (E#8) FE  EURE BAl
(Note 4) (Note 2)
(BisE4) (Frt2)
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
Thn T Tén T
Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings  The Cayman lslands 75,350,000 5.98% 4369 2,863 (1,506) HK$7.27 - 369
Limited ordinary shares of million
HK$0.005 each
Ef e MRAARARAT RS 75,350,0001% 7,270,000
BREBG0.00ET BT
LEER
Town Health International Medical Bermuda 29,114,000 0.39% 41,835 2,195 (39,040) HK$14.74 - 360
Group Limited ordinary shares of million
HK$0.01 each
REAREEEEERAT BRE 29,114,0001% 14,740,000
BREBOIET BT
LEER
SEM Holdings Limited The Cayman lslands 33,660,000 1.68% 3573 2,726 (847) MOP4.20 - 351
ordinary shares of million
HK$0.01 each
RERRARAT REES 33,660,000 gk
BREBOET 4,200,0007C
LEER
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S B DT

Listed Equity Security — Australia LR s RN
Dividend % of
Proportion Net liability ~ received/ gross
of investee's Unrealised ~ attributable  receivable assets
Particular of capital Market  gain/(loss) to the during of the
Name of investee Place of incorporation issued shares held owned Cost value recognised  Company  theyear  Company
BB
RAH A5 A0F REEE AERRF
i FRERT  RELR kE/ EkERE BY/  4EE
FRENGER R Rit#ts  ERLA A& [ (E%8) BE  EURE  EAL

(Note 4) (Note 2)
(a)  (W3E2)

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn ThEn T TEL
Crater Gold Mining Limited Australia 35,000,000 2.85% 2,669 3,131 462 AUD(0.15) - 403
ordinary shares million
3l 35,000,000%% (150,000
LAk A
Private Equity Security — British Virgin Islands REREES -ZBEXHE

Dividend % of

Proportion Netasset  received/ gross

of investees Unrealised ~ attributable  receivable assets

Particular of capital Market  gain/(loss) tothe  during the of the

Name of investee Place of incorporation issued shares held owned Cost value recognised  Company year  Company
B

BAH A5 ADF  REEE fADR

FEERT RELR bE/ EEEE Bl ReE

FREADAM AmR LB Rt EALAH 2 [ (58 BE  BURE  BOM

(Note 4) (Note 3)
(Hz4)  (W33)

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
T T T T
Gransing Financial Group Limited British Virgin Islands 48 shares of 15.53% 42,799 14,068 (28731)  HK$19.79 - 18.13
USD1 each million
ARCHEERRAA ZERAES BRERAE 19,790,000
1%L IR BT

FEFEER AR A/ F3R 2021 115
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Private Equity Security — Hong Kong

REREEZ-EE

Dividend % of
Proportion Netasset  received/ gross
of investee's Unrealised ~attributable  receivable assets
Particular of capital Market  gain/(loss) tothe  during the of the
Name of investee Place of incorporation issued shares held owned Cost value recognised  Company year  Company
B5k ERAE REAEE HALT
fisedfT  REMNA BRAAER EHEE B/ BgE
FREARAR Eauizve by RfiFE XL B mE hE/ (58 BE  EUWRE BAl
(Note 4) (Note 3)
(Wsta)  (W3E3)
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000
T Tt T T
Help U Credit Finance Limited Hong Kong 37,000 shares 19.95% 19,000 6,390 (12,6100 HK$14.00 - 823
million
EARBERAR (5 37,000 14,000,000
BT
Promissory Note - Hong Kong RAZE-FF
Interest % of
received/ gross
Unrealised accrued assets
Market gain/(loss) Yield per Maturity during of the
Name of investee Place of incorporation Cost value recognised annum date the year Company
REFE EART
BEARER B/ heE
FiREAR AR RLWRES B nE k(58 FlhEx )] EitHE ARt
(Note 4)
(Mzt4)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 % HK$'000
Titn Tt Tt ThEn
Gransing Finance Limited Hong Kong 15,000 15,000 - 8 12May 2021 766 19.33
EREERRAR B 2021858128
Notes: B 7
(1) The unrealised gain/(loss) recognised represented the changes in fair value of the (1) CRRBREHRMNE (BB EAFEEEREZR
respective investments during the Year. FEZE -

2) The calculation of net assets/(liability) attributable to the Company is based on the (2)
latest published interim/annual reports of the respective investments at the end of each

reporting period.

(3) The calculation of net assets attributable to the Company is based on the latest financial (3)
information/statements of the respective investments at the end of each reporting

period.

4) The unrealised gain/(loss) recognised represented the changes in fair value of the (4)

respective investments during the year ended 31 December 2020.

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2021

WEARMATIE&

EHER
ALFEEEREZA

NP EE

ARBEEEE/ (AR FENRESHERERS
MR/ FERE

HE -

AABEIEEEFENIRESRRERTREHR
BT IE AR, MRATH -

2R (FE) h%zizozoi 12 A31



Management Discussion and Analysis

A brief description of the business and financial information of the

investments is as follows:

(a)

Kingland Group Holdings Limited (“Kingland”), formerly Sing On
Holdings Limited, is an investment holding company mainly as a
subcontractor provides concrete demolition service in Hong Kong
and Macau. The unaudited loss attributable to shareholders of
Kingland for the six months ended 30 June 2021 was approximately
HK$19,692,000 and the unaudited net assets attributable to
shareholders of Kingland as at 30 June 2021 was approximately
HK$38,607,000. Kingland remains cautious about the risk and
uncertainty related to the outbreak of COVID-19 variants and will
strive their best to seek opportunity to undertake more sizeable
projects and to continuously strengthen cost control measure in
order to generate more revenue and to reduce cost. The fair value of
the investment in Kingland is based on quoted market bid prices.

InvesTech Holdings Limited (“InvesTech”) is a China-based company
mainly provides network system integration solutions and sales
of softwares. The unaudited loss attributable to shareholders of
InvesTech for the six months ended 30 June 2021 was approximately
RMB9,559,000 and the unaudited net assets attributable to
shareholders of InvesTech as at 30 June 2021 was approximately
RMB347,731,000. InvesTech would continue to develop its IT
infrastructure system integration business to generate stable source
of income and to expand their customer base for their Smart Office
Software Solutions & PropTech Solutions. The fair value of the
investment in InvesTech is based on quoted market bid prices.

Beaver Group (Holding) Company Limited (“Beaver”) is a foundation
contractor primarily engaged in subcontracted bored piling works as
well as other foundation works. The unaudited loss attributable to
shareholders of Beaver for the six months ended 30 September 2021
was approximately HK$10,719,000 and the unaudited net assets
attributable to shareholders of Beaver as at 30 September 2021 was
approximately HK$78,621,000. Beaver will invest in the manpower
and information system to enhance its operational capacity and
efficiency in foundation and site formation works and bored piling
works. The fair value of the investment in Beaver is based on quoted
market bid prices.

B E R wm AT

BREBER CEH R BERNEAMENT

SHEBEZERER AR ([R]) (A1
KREERERAR) REEERDBER
REB RRPIR MU R IR RIS
BERAT - SBREHZE2021F6 A
J0RLEANEAAEBEALCEZEBEALY
19,692,000 78 7T DA K2 = B i% B8 70 2021
FeA0HEERLCEZEEFAEAARY
38,607,000 7T » S Hf ¥ COVID-19 &
BIFEEEENRR R THEPAREREE
B UBERENSHESERTESZ AR
I8 B - NG HN 98 A AR IR I FE e - LA
MR A RBEIERR A - REIREMN QA FE
TERTIGRE -

BEERBR AT ([EH]) AEE2RH
MERRESHEAARR L ERN TS
AR BRI RR] o BAIRREZE 20214
6 A30BIEAEAEBERCEZEERR
49 N R # 9,559,000 7T LA % & 51 A% 3 74
202146 A0 HEGREHEZEEFE
B#) N 347,731,000 7T © BN S S
FRZHEMBBEMRRERRREER
NEABENRARRL AEEERD
BHRATREREMERSFRRATRER
HEPER -BAMRENQAFENER
TIHWIE o

KEEE (R BRAR (kE)) =
EMREEABIEREMETZN
HhEFGER o KB RFREE2021F9 A
30HIEAEAEEREEZERBALN
10,719,000 JT LA} oK &) f% 5 722021
FIORAHEERLCEZEEFARY
78,621,000 7T - K EHIEER AN R
EERGURSENMERMBFET
BUARBIBETRFAAEZE R
K KEIRENAFEDERTISRE -
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BRI DT

Crater Gold Mining Limited (“Crater Gold Mining”) is principally
engaged in producing gold and developing gold and base metal
projects in Papua New Guinea and Australia. The unaudited loss
attributable to shareholders of Crater Gold Mining for the six months
ended 31 December 2021 was approximately AUD1,405,130
and the unaudited net liabilities attributable to shareholders of
Crater Gold Mining as at 31 December 2021 was approximately
AUD15,315,440. Crater Gold Mining is continuing to increase
shareholder wealth through acquisition and development of world
class mineral resources. The fair value of the investment in Crater
Gold Mining is based on quoted market bid prices.

Gransing Financial Group Limited (“Gransing Financial”) is principally
engaged in provision of quality brokerage, corporate finance, asset
management, money lending and financial adviser services to
institutional and individual investors in Hong Kong and Mainland
China through its subsidiaries. With the enhancement of artificial
intelligence ("A.l.") technology, Gransing Financial launched
several new services included the online opening account services
for new customers in Hong Kong and China. Moreover, by the
help of advanced intelligent technology, Gransing Financial’s A.l.
analyst would serve their clients with stock monitoring, investment
strategies and stock scoring services. All the above would improve
Gransing Financial’s operation efficiency and earn more new
potential clients. The fair value of the investment in Gransing
Financial is based on valuation by independent valuer.

iPro Financial Press Limited (“iPro”) is principally engaged in
financial printing services, production of announcements such as
IPO prospectus and financial reports, and provision of venues for
financial related forums. The fair value of the investment in iPro is
based on valuation by independent valuer.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Help U Credit Finance Limited (“Help U"”) is principally engaged in
money lending business in Hong Kong. Help U is a licensed money
lender and provides secured and unsecured loans to both individuals
and corporations. The fair value of the investment in Help U is based
on valuation by independent valuer.

Oriental Payment Group Holdings Limited (“Oriental Payment”) is an
investment holding company mainly engaged in merchant acquiring
business. Oriental Payment issued a 1-year bond to the Company
which bond size is HK$15 million, with coupon of 10% per year
and will mature in May 2022. The fair value of the investment in the
bond is based on valuation by independent valuer.

Gransing Finance Limited (“Gransing Finance”) is engaged in the
provision of money lending. Gransing Finance is held by Gransing
Financial and which is the sole shareholder of Gransing Finance.
Gransing Finance issued a 6-month promissory note to the Company
which note size is HK$11.5 million, with coupon of 8% per year and
will mature in February 2022. The fair value of the investment in the
promissory note is based on valuation by independent valuer.

iPro Financial Press Limited (“iPro”) is principally engaged in
financial printing services, production of announcements such as
IPO prospectus and financial reports, and provision of venues for
financial related forums. iPro issued a 6-month promissory note
to the Company which note size is HK$9 million, with coupon
of 8% per year and will mature in June 2022. The fair value of
the investment in the promissory note is based on valuation by
independent valuer.
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The top three investments with realised gain and loss for the Year are
summarised as below:

Top three realised gain for the Year

Name of investment

RAFEFBEEBWENEIB 2 Z KRB
T

TEE=ZARBEBEKE

Realised gain

REEAW =% $2106

HK$'000

TET

CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited FEEBEZERBR A A 2,316

China Telecom Corporation Limited PEEERDBER DA 279
China Gas Industry Investment Holdings China Gas Industry Investment Holdings

Company Limited Company Limited 97

Top three realised loss for the Year

Name of investment

TEE=ZARCEEEE

Realised loss

REEAT E2RREE
HK$'000

FHET

Town Health International Medical Group Limited FREBIBREEEEGR A A 26,399
Lerado Financial Group Company Limited ERemERBRAA 9,004
InvesTech Holdings Limited B ZER AR AT 2,179

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING

The Company has maintained a sufficient cash position which will allow it
to capture opportunities with promising returns in both listed and private
equities.

As at 31 December 2021, the gearing ratio, defined as total borrowings
divided by shareholders’ equities, was nil (31 December 2020: 6.6%). As
at 31 December 2021, the Company has no margin payables to brokers
(31 December 2020: HK$4,659,540 with interest rate approximately 2.6%
per annum).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
Year (2020: Nil).

CHARGES ON COMPANY’S ASSET AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company had no pledged Hong Kong listed
securities to secure the margin payables to the brokers (31 December
2020: HK$11 million).

There were no significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2021 (31
December 2020: Nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

On the listing date on 6 January 2011, the Company completed a share
placement and a total of 303,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each
were placed at a price of HK$1.03 per share for a total cash consideration,
excluding the related issue expenses, for approximately HK$312.1 million.
Subsequent to the listing, the Company had acquired additional capital
by completion of rights issue and placing of new shares under general
mandate. As at 31 December 2021, the capital of the Company comprises
of 864,214,887 ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each.

PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

On 21 May 2021, the Company had raised approximately HK$21.21
million, net of expenses, by way of entering into a placing agreement
with the placing agent, to place 120,029,845 placing shares to not less
than six placees which are professional investors and independent third
parties. The placing shares are issued at a gross price of HK$0.18 and
net price of HK$0.177 per placing share (closing price of the shares of
the Company was HK$0.204 as at the date of announcement) under the
general mandate granted to the Directors at the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 29 May 2020. Approximately HK$19.09 million
and HK$2.12 million, representing approximately 90% and 10% of the
net proceeds respectively, had utilised for the intended purpose towards
investment in line with its ordinary course of business and general working
capital of the Company. Details of the placing of new shares under general
mandate can be referred to the announcements dated 28 April 2021 and
21 May 2021 respectively.
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On 2 November 2021, the Company had raised approximately HK$22.93
million, net of expenses, by way of entering into a placing agreement
with the placing agent, to place 144,035,814 placing shares to not less
than six placees which are professional investors and independent third
parties. The placing shares are issued at a gross price of HK$0.162 and
net price of HK$0.159 per placing share (closing price of the shares of
the Company was HK$0.204 as at the date of announcement) under the
general mandate granted to the Directors at the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 28 May 2021. Approximately HK$18.34 million,
and HK$4.59 million, representing approximately 80% and 20% of the
net proceeds respectively, had utilised for the intended purpose towards
investment in line with its ordinary course of business and general working
capital of the Company. Details of the placing of new shares under general
mandate can be referred to the announcements dated 8 October 2021
and 2 November 2021 respectively.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

The Company did not purchase, redeem or sell any of the Company’s listed
shares during the Year.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND COMMITMENT

As at 31 December 2021, the Company made no capital expenditure or
any other commitments (31 December 2020: Nil).

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

During the Year, the Company did not acquire or dispose of any
subsidiaries or associated companies (2020: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

USE OF PROCEEDS

The Company has twenty-seven investments as of 31 December 2021,
comprising of equity securities listed in Hong Kong and Australia, private
equity securities, promissory notes and unlisted bond. The largest one held
by the Company is in the financial services sector focusing in the Hong
Kong market.

The rest of the net proceeds gained will be applied by the Board and
Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited (the “Investment Manager”)
in making investments according to the investment objective, policies
and restrictions of the Company and the requirements of the Articles
of Association of the Company, the Listing Rules and the investment
management agreement. Any proceeds not deployed are placed in bank
deposits or invested in money market instruments or money market funds.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2021, the Company had seven full-time employees
(31 December 2020: seven full-time employees). All of the Company’s
employees were based in Hong Kong.

The Company establishes its remuneration policy by making reference to
the prevailing market conditions and a performance-based reward system.
The policy is periodically reviewed. Apart from mandatory provident
fund, salaries increment, discretionary bonuses and share options may
be awarded to employees according to the assessment of individual
performance.

The total remuneration cost incurred by the Company for the Year was
approximately HK$3,232,366 (31 December 2020: HK$3,132,616).

FOREIGN CURRENCY FLUCTUATION

The Board believes that foreign exchange risks are minimal as the
Company mainly uses the Hong Kong dollar to carry out its business
transactions.

B E R wm AT

FRBERIERR

AARR2021F12A3MHEE -+ LEE
B HPBREREERRN T2 ERES
LERERES AHAEBRRIELTES -AAQ
AFE A BAEINEEM SN SRR
TR -

RS EREFERHETEREAES (B
B)ERAB([REBEADBRBERARRKRE
BiE BREBRHMARBASESIZAR - £
MRARREEEBRREETRE - KD
REERMAE TR FERITFAIIRERE

BERFMEK

R2021F 12 A31H  ARAIELEEHBES
(2020F12A31H : tH2ER) - KAQF]
FiEEEHYUNESBBIEML -

ARFRHETHMBER § 22 RTTRR—
SRR - TR - B
HAESIN - AARFTERBEARRIZ
Mita T B TM# - W7 RBRE -

RAFE ARREENBLHFINKAN B
3,232,366 870 (2020512 A31H :3,132,616
BIT) °

NS R B

EXeRR HRARFEBEMAETETE
B 5 HOMNERBRARN -

FEFTAEREAR AR/ FIR 2021

21



22

Management Discussion and Analysis

BB AT

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 25 February 2022, the Company had raised an approximately HK$74
million, net of expenses, by way of the rights issue of 432,107,443 rights
shares to the qualifying shareholders at a subscription price of HK$0.18
per rights share on the basis of one rights share for every two shares
(closing price of the shares of the Company was HK$0.25 as at the date
of announcement of the rights issue). The Company was intended to
apply approximately HK$62.9 million, and HK$11.1 million, representing
approximately 85% and 15% of the net proceeds, towards investment
in two funds, one of which is an opportunity fund with investment focus
on distress assets and shares in suspended listed companies with assets
or projects in Hong Kong, the PRC or Taiwan while the another fund
with investment focus on projects in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area and general working capital of the Company.

Details of the rights issue were set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 7 January 2022, 12 January 2022, 15 February 2022 and
24 February 2022 and prospectus dated 25 January 2022 .

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”)
established in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee currently comprises four independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Chong Ching Hoi (being the chairman with professional
qualifications in accountancy), Mr. Leung Wai Lim, Mr. Sun Boquan and
Mr. Lam King.

The summary of duties and works of the Audit Committee is set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Board hereby announces that the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Tuesday, 24 May 2022 to Friday, 27 May 2022, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be registered.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual
general meeting (“AGM"), all transfers of shares, accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Monday, 23 May 2022.
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Profiles of Directors

EEERF

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Gu Xu (“Mr. Gu"), aged 57, the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company, is responsible for the provision of leadership to the Company’s
business development and daily management generally. Mr. Gu was
appointed as executive Director of the Company since 25 November 2010
and has been appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 28 May 2015. He
was also the Chairman of the Company from 28 May 2015 to 10 January
2022.Mr. Gu completed a bachelor’s degree majoring in Economics from
Shanghai University of Finance and Economics in 1986. He further received
a master’s degree majoring in Economics from the same university in
1989 and a master’s degree majoring in Business Administration awarded
jointly by Fudan University and The University of Hong Kong in 2003.
Mr. Gu has accumulated 26 years’ experience in asset management,
investment and financial management in both financial conglomerate
and private company. He is the chairman of F/ B R EHREEEBFR A
A] (Shanghai Dongsheng Investment Management Co., Ltd.). Mr. Gu
has been appointed as independent supervisor of &N & g A E XD B
PR /A &) (Suzhou Financial Leasing Co., Ltd) in May 2016. Mr. Gu was an
independent non-executive director of COSCO SHIPPING Development
Co., Ltd. (2866.HK), a company listed both in Hong Kong and Shanghai,
from March 2018 to August 2019. Furthermore, Mr. Gu was the president
of Henan Zhong Yuan Lian Chuang Investment Fund Management
Company Limited from October 2015 to December 2018.
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Mr. Chan Cheong Yee ("Mr. Chan”), aged 58, has been appointed
as an executive Director since 1 June 2013. Mr. Chan is the managing
director of Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited. Mr. Chan is
currently a licensed person to carry out type 4 (advising on securities) and
type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO").
Mr. Chan obtained a Bachelor of Science degree from the College of
Business Administration of The University of South Florida in the United
States of America. Mr. Chan is experienced in dealing in securities, fund
management, corporate management, corporate finance and managing
listed investment companies under Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules.
Mr. Chan is currently an executive director of China Innovation Investment
Limited (1217.HK), China Investment and Finance Group Limited
(1226. HK), China Investment Development Limited (204.HK), Capital
VC Limited (2324.HK) and Goldstone Investment Group Limited
(901.HK), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). On 1 December
2020, Mr. Chan was re-designated as a non-executive director of China
Trend Holdings Limited (8171.HK), a company previously listed on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange and was delisted on 23 August 2021. He
was an executive director of Alpha Returns Group PLC, an investment
company listed on AIM of London Stock Exchange, from May 2013 to
April 2018. Mr. Chan was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Bingo Group Holdings Limited (8220.HK) in August 2007,
and redesignated as an executive director from April 2009 to September
2018. He was an executive director of National Investments Fund Limited
(in liquidation) (1227.HK) before the winding up order was granted against
the company on 8 February 2021. He was also an executive director of
Core Economy Investment Group Limited (339.HK) from January 2021 to
June 2021.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Huang Bin (“Mr. Huang”), aged 56, has been appointed as a non-
executive Director and the Chairman of the Company since 10 January
2022, and became the Co-Chairman of the Board alongside Mr. Choi Chit
Sze Jackson with effect from 8 February 2022. He is currently a director
and general manager of CITIC International Assets Management Limited
and CITIC Merchant Enterprise Management Company Limited (4 {3
BM¥EEE AR QA respectively, and has extensive professional
experience in fund and asset management as well as investment banking
and direct investments. Mr. Huang previously joined CITIC Securities and
established CITIC Merchant Enterprise through cooperation, which is
driven by specific projects and supported by market-oriented operation
to identify a unique business model that integrates investment businesses
with comprehensive financing services, thereby providing international
corporate clients with comprehensive solutions. After years of experience
in working abroad and as a visiting scholar, such as Crédit Agricole
Corporate and Investment Bank in France, Yaxin Finance in Hong Kong
and subsidiaries of Scotia Capital in Canada, Mr. Huang joined the
Chinese General Chamber of Commerce and the Guangdong-Hongkong-
Macao Bay Area Entrepreneurs Union. He is the executive vice chairman
of the Union and in charge of technology and financial sector as well.
In order to give further play to the regional advantage of “Leveraging
Hong Kong’s Advantages, Meeting the Country’s Needs”, Mr. Huang
organized Mainland government-owned enterprises and local state-
owned enterprises in Hong Kong to set up special funds. These funds
jointly carry out coordination work in compliance with the “belt and road”
initiative, while promoting the development of “Guangdong-Hongkong-
Macao Bay Area” based on Hong Kong. Besides implementing the
transformation of technological innovation and achievement, these funds
focus on introducing advanced technologies, and incubating industries.
Mr. Huang graduated from the Department of Naval Architecture and
Marine Engineering of Harbin Engineering University, and subsequently
received the training from the European Economic Community
Visiting Scholars Program and the business management training from
Northwestern University in the United States of America. From 19 March
2020 to 2 December 2021, Mr. Huang was the chairman and a non-
executive director of Lamtex Holdings Limited (in liquidation) (stock code:
1041), a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. From
3 September 2019 to 16 October 2020, Mr. Huang was an executive
director of GTI Holdings Limited (in liquidation) (stock code: 3344), a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Choi Chit Sze Jackson, aged 24, has been appointed as a non-
executive Director and the Co-Chairman of the Company alongside Mr.
Huang Bin since 8 February 2022. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree
from University College London. He is the director of CITIC Merchant
Enterprise Management Company Limited (FE BB MCE2EEGR A
A]) and he is also a director of Sunwah Group. He has been elected as
a Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area Outstanding Young
Entrepreneur in 2020 by the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Bay Area
Entrepreneurs Union. Mr. Choi Chit Sze Jackson is the son of Mr. Choi
Koon Shum, one of the substantial shareholders of Sunwah Kingsway
Capital Holdings Limited (“Sunwah Kingsway") (188.HK), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and the Company within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO, and nephew of Mr. Choi Koon Ming, a
non-executive director of the Company.

Mr. Choi Koon Ming, aged 53, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director since 8 February 2022. He holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from
the University of British Columbia. He has over 25 years of experience
in the financing activities of corporate and property mortgage, real
estate development and property investment, as well as over 20 years of
experience in financial services. Mr. Choi Koon Ming has been an executive
director of Sunwah Kingsway since 2000 and the chief executive officer
of Sunwah Kingsway since 2010. Mr. Choi Koon Ming has also been an
independent non-executive director of EPS Creative Health Technology
Group Limited (3860.HK), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, since 2021. He was also a director and chief executive
officer of Sunwah International Limited (“SIL"), which was listed on the
Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX"). SIL was privatized and delisted from the
TSX on 14 June 2021. Currently Mr. Choi Koon Ming is a member of the
People’s Consultative Committee of Jiangsu Province, the People’s Republic
of China. Mr. Choi Koon Ming is the uncle of Mr. Choi Chit Sze Jackson,
a non-executive director of the Company and a brother of Mr. Choi Koon
Shum, one of the substantial shareholder of Sunwah Kingsway and the
Company with the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr. Wang Dingben (“Mr. Wang"), aged 45, has been appointed as a
non-executive Director since 9 June 2020. Mr. Wang has over 11 years
of extensive experience in commercial and capital markets in Mainland
China, Hong Kong and Southeast Asia. He is currently a director of Henghe
Investment Development Group (Cambodia) Company Limited, a company
engaged in real estate investment, property development and hotel
management in Cambodia.

Mr. Chow Yeung Tuen Richard (“Mr. Chow"), aged 64, has been
appointed as a non-executive Director since 9 June 2020. Mr. Chow
is a Certified Public Accountant with over 31 years of experience
in accounting, auditing and taxation. He is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, the
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly the Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and the Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators) in
the United Kingdom. Mr. Chow is also a Barrister of England and Wales.
He holds a Master Degree in Business Administration from the University
of East Asia, Macau. Mr. Chow was a non-executive director of CIL
Holdings Limited (479.HK), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange from April 2010 to June 2021. He has been appointed as
directors of a number of subsidiaries of Sun Wah Group. He was awarded
the Medal of Honour by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (“HKSAR") in 2007.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chong Ching Hoi (“Mr. Chong”), aged 39, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director since 22 December 2017.
He is the chairman of each of the Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee as well as a member of the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Chong graduated from the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology with a bachelor degree of Business Administration
in Accounting in November 2004. He is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He has more than
14 years of experience in audit, accounting, financial reporting and
compliance. Mr. Chong was the chief financial officer and company
secretary of Hao Bai International (Cayman) Limited (8431.HK), a company
listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, from March 2016 to April
2021 and was responsible for its compliance and corporate governance,
preparing group’s consolidated financial statements as well as reviewing
and implementing effective financial policies and internal control
procedures.
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Mr. Leung Wai Lim (“Mr. Leung”), aged 49, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since 10 October 2018. He is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee as well as a member of the Audit
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Leung
obtained a bachelor’s degree in law from University of Wales in United
Kingdom in July 1995. He was admitted to practise law as a solicitor in
Hong Kong in August 1999 and in England and Wales in April 2001.
Mr. Leung is currently an independent non-executive director of Shun
Wo Group Holdings Limited (1591.HK), and Yield Go Holdings Ltd.
(1796.HK), both shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. He is a panel member appointed by the Secretary for Transport
and Housing to the Transport Tribunals’ Panel and a member of the
Transportation and Logistics Committee (co-option) of the Law Society of
Hong Kong SAR. He is also a member of Patient Complaint Committee
of The Prince Philip Dental Hospital since October 2021. Mr. Leung was a
member of the Board of Review (Inland Revenue Ordinance) in Hong Kong
from 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2020. Mr. Leung was an adjudicator
appointed to the Panel of Adjudicators (Control of Obscene and Indecent
Articles) (established under the Control of Obscene and Indecent Articles
Ordinance (Chapter 390 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) from 18 August 2014
to 17 August 2020. Mr. Leung has over 22 years of law related working
experience. He has been a partner of Howse Williams since May 2015. He
was employed by DLA Piper from February 2001 to April 2009 at which his
last position was partner. He was then employed by Eversheds from May
2009 to April 2015 at which his last position was partner.

Mr. Sun Boquan (“Mr. Sun”), aged 70, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director as well as a member of each of
the audit committee, the nomination committee and the remuneration
committee of the Company since 5 June 2019. Mr. Sun has obtained a
master degree in business administration from Nan Kai University (7
K &), the People’s Republic of China in 2005. He was the deputy bureau
head of Tianjin Public Utility Bureau (X272 A /3) in September 1997,
and was the chairman of X)ZM AR EE H R A F (Tianjin Gas Group
Company Limited) from 2000 to 2011. During the period from August
2004 to September 2011, Mr. Sun acted as a non-executive director of
Tianjin Tianlian Public Utilities Company Limited (currently known as Tianjin
Jinran Public Utilities Company Limited) (1265.HK), a company now listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Sun was the chairman of
FIZRFE WS (Tianjin Gas Society) and the vice chairman of /1 Bl & &
& (China Gas Society) from 2011 to 2013. Mr. Sun was an independent
non-executive director of Ming Hing Holdings Limited (currently known as
Peace Map Holding Limited) (402.HK), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, for the period from October 2006 to March 2009.
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Mr. Lam King (“Mr. Lam”), aged 64, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director as well as a member of each of
the audit committee, the nomination committee and the remuneration
committee of the Company since 13 January 2022. Mr. Lam graduated
from Xiamen University in 1980 and had served as department manager,
deputy general manager, general manager and director of Fujian
Enterprises (Holdings) Co. Ltd. and general manager of the Association
Department. Mr. Lam had been engaging in business management and
liaison between Hong Kong and the Mainland for more than 30 years. He
has also served as a member of the Election Committee for the HKSAR
Legislative Council and Chief Executive, and a member of the Hong Kong
National People’s Congress Election Committee. In 2015, he was awarded
the Medal of Honour by the Government of the HKSAR.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and audited financial
statements of the Company for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The Company is an exempted limited liability company, incorporated in the
Cayman Islands on 1 February 2010 for the purpose of acting as a closed-
ended investment company.

The Company is principally engaged in investing globally in both private
and publicly listed enterprises that have demonstrated the ability to
manufacture a product or deliver a service that is supported by the
economies of the mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan.

The shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with effect from 6 January 2011 (the “Listing Date”). The
Company had not commenced any operation or business before the
Listing Date.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of the business review as required by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, including risks facing by the Company,
important events affecting the Company, that have occurred since the
end of the Year, likely future development in the Company’s business can
be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” of this annual report. These discussions form part of this “Report
of the Directors”.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The results of the Company for the Year are set out in the financial
statements on pages 74 to 159.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividends for the Year
(31 December 2020: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Company for the
Year is set out on page 160.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves during the Year are set out in the
statement of changes in equity to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital during the Year are set out in
Note 22 to the financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

The Company did not purchase, redeem or sell any of the Company’s listed
shares during the Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Gu Xu (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Huang Bin (Co-Chairman)
(Appointed on 10 January 2022)

Mr. Choi Chit Sze Jackson (Co-Chairman)
(Appointed on 8 February 2022)

Mr. Choi Koon Ming
(Appointed on 8 February 2022)

Mr. Wang Dingben

Mr. Chow Yeung Tuen Richard

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chong Ching Hoi
Mr. Leung Wai Lim
Mr. Sun Boquan
Mr. Lam King
(Appointed on 13 January 2022)
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In order to comply with the requirements of the code provision A.4.2 of
the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules, Mr. Chan Cheong Yee, Mr. Huang Bin, Mr. Choi Chit
Sze Jackson, Mr. Choi Koon Ming, Mr. Chong Ching Hoi, Mr. Sun Boquan
and Mr. Lam King shall retire at the AGM. The retiring Directors are being
eligible to offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

The biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this report are set
out in the section headed “Profiles of Directors” on pages 24 to 30 of this
annual report.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS

Details of the fee or emoluments of Directors during the Year are set out in
Note 8 to the financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED ARRANGEMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Company’s operations. The Company has not entered
into any equity-linked agreement during the Year or there was not any
subsisting equity-linked agreement entered into by the Company at the
end of the Year.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Company is devoted to promoting and maintaining the environmental
and social sustainable development. As a responsible enterprise, the
Company is in compliance with all the material relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong in terms of the environmentally friendliness,
health as well as safety and adopts effective measures, conserves energy
and reduces waste.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Company’s operations are mainly carried out in Hong Kong and
accordingly shall comply with material relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong. During the Year and up to the date of this report, the
Company has complied with all the material relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every Director of the
Company together with every former Director of the Company shall
be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against any liability,
action, proceeding, claim, demand, costs, damages or expenses, including
legal expenses, whatsoever which they or any of them may incur in the
execution of their office or otherwise in relation thereto. During the Year,
appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liabilities insurance coverage had
been arranged in respect of legal action that might be taken against the
Directors and officers of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICES CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the AGM has
a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation (if any).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than the “Investment Management Agreement” mentioned below,
no contracts of significance, to which the Company was a party and in
which any Director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during
the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save the respective Investment Management Agreement and Potential
Conflicts of Interest disclosed on pages 40 to 41 of the Report of the
Directors, the Company has not entered into any contract with any
individuals, firms or corporate entities to manage or regulate the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors of the Company or their respective spouse or
children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 1 June 2015, pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at
the extraordinary general meeting held on 28 May 2015.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company must
not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
in issue from time to time.

The Company operates the share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of the Company’s operations. The eligible participants of
the Share Option Scheme are full time or part time employees of the
Company (including any directors, whether executive or non-executive
and whether independent or not, of the Company); and any business or
joint venture partners, contractors, agents or representatives, consultants,
advisers, suppliers, producers or licensors, customers, licensees (including
any sublicensee) or distributors, landlords or tenants (including any sub-
tenants) of the Company or any person who, in the sole discretion of the
Board, has contributed or may contribute to the Company.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
shares in issue on 28 May 2021 as the Company has sought the approval
of the shareholders in general meeting for refreshing the 10% limit under
the Share Option Scheme. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force
for a period of 10 years commencing from 28 May 2015.

The subscription price for shares under the Share Option Scheme shall be
a price determined by the Board, but shall not be lower than the highest
of (i) the closing price of shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of
the Stock Exchange on the date on which the Board approves the making
of the offer for the grant of options (the “Date of Grant”), which must
be a trading day; (ii) the average closing price of shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five trading days
immediately preceding the Date of Grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a
share. The time of acceptance of an offer for the grant of options shall not
be later than 21 days from the Date of Grant. A non-refundable nominal
consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by the grantee upon acceptance of an
option.

Particulars to the Company’s Share Option Scheme are set out in Note 21
to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors
of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each of the

EERFETBRAERKS -
BROREEEZEZR AR

R2021F 12 A31 B  ARBIESENEARE R
HAEMEEEE (TR REFSHRAEBKROEXY
) 2B - ARG REREFREREE
HREEGAIE 352G B RATHFENETM
W2 AR AR - SKERE EmRRIM 6k
0B EMBEITAESZHTEFI ZHNIZLE
PRI (MR2ESFRI ) STAME AR R R AT 2
FRERRABLT

RAEARBEREE0.V4BTZEBEBRRG 247

Company -}
Approximate
Number of % of issued
Capacity in shares held share capital of
Name of Director which shares are held (Direct interests) the Company
R0 8 E NG TR £y
BExpns A8 RIFERSG 2 55 (E D) BRAEZBNE DL
Wang Dingben Beneficial Owner 68,330,000 7.91

FTAR BEnfEAA

Note: As at 31 December 2021, the Company had 864,214,887 issued shares.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS'/OTHER PERSON’'S FERE Hitb A T RKHRLHEE
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND RO ZEZR XA
UNDERLYING SHARES

Shareholders’ Interests in Shares BRERBRG ZEE

As at 31 December 2021, the following person (other than the Directors 720215128318 A FA T (EEH AR
or chief executives of the Company) had interests or short positions in the Al BT A EBRIN) IRANRQ 8] Z i 1D sk 1E 38
shares or underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in the MDA RIEE S MBS0 336 156% 5

register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of RARFAETEE ZELMAZEFIOAE

the SFO:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each of the RA L FI&EIREE0.0487T2ZERIRGZIF

Company E
Approximate
Number of Number of % of issued
Capacity in shares held shares held share capital of
Name of shareholder which shares are held (Direct Interests) (Indirect Interests) the Company
FEROEA FEROAHA EAARB BT
BREE BB RiERG 2 56 (EEER) (BEgEzR) REAZBOBEIL
CITIC Group Corporation Interest in controlled 210,000,000 24.30
corporation (Note 2)
FEAEEEBRAA REHEE S (HF5E2)
CITIC Limited Interest in controlled 210,000,000 24.30
corporation (Note 2)
FEFAERHDBERAA REHEE S (MF5E2)
China CITIC Bank Corporation Interest in controlled 210,000,000 24.30
Limited corporation (Note 2)
FRERITRHBRAR REHEE S (MF5E2)
CITIC International Financial Interest in controlled 210,000,000 24.30
Holdings Limited corporation (Note 2)
FEBESFRIERER A REHEE S (M$7E2)
CITIC International Assets Interest in controlled 210,000,000 24.30
Management Limited corporation (Note 2)
FEREEEEEAERAR REHEE R (fF3E2)
Huang Bin Interest in controlled 210,000,000 24.30
corporation (Note 2)
=908 RS (fFEE2)
Radiant Goldstone Holdings Interest in controlled 210,000,000 24.30
Limited corporation (Note 2)
REHEE R (fFEE2)

FEFTAEREAR AR/ FIR 2021

37



38

Report of the Directors

EREWmS

Approximate

Number of Number of % of issued
Capacity in shares held shares held share capital of
Name of shareholder which shares are held (Direct Interests) (Indirect Interests) the Company
FERHEE FERHER EARRAFERT
BEREE BB RETER®D 25147 (EEER) (BEER) REAZBAEI L
Radiant Resources Group Limited  Interest in controlled 210,000,000 24.30
corporation (Note 2)
SPESEEE S (fzE2)
Radiant Assets Management Interest in controlled 210,000,000 24.30
Limited corporation (Note 2)
heBEEEEERAFA SPESEE RS (fFzE2)
Radiant Goldstone International Beneficial Owner 210,000,000 24.30
Group Limited (Note 2)
EmERA (FF3E2)
Choi Koon Shum Interest in controlled 165,025,730 19.09
corporation (Note 3)
2R SIESEEE S (F7E3)
Sunwah Kingsway Capital Interest in controlled 165,025,730 19.09
Holdings Limited corporation (Note 3)
FEESSRIERERAR N T NIy (Pf7E3)
Festival Developments Limited Interest in controlled 165,025,730 19.09
corporation (Note 3)
N T NIy (FF3E3)
Kingsway Lion Spur Technology Beneficial Owner 165,025,730 19.09
Limited (Note 3)
EmEERA (FF3E3)
Note: B 5E -
1. As at 31 December 2021, the Company had 864,214,887 issued shares. 1. 202112 A31 8 » RAFES 864,214,887 % 2
BEITRAD -
2. To the best information, knowledge and belief of the Directors, Radiant Goldstone 2. BE SR - 2% k{5 Radiant Goldstone

International Group Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Radiant Assets Management
Limited (“RAML"). RAML is in turn wholly owned by Radiant Resources Group Limited
(“RRGL"). RRGL is owned as to 60% by Radiant Goldstone Holdings Limited (“RGHL")
and as to 40% by CITIC International Assets Management Limited (“CIAML"). RGHL
is wholly owned by Mr. Huang Bin, a non-executive Director and the Co-Chairman of
the Company appointed on 10 January 2022. CIAML is owned as to 46% by CITIC
International Financial Holdings Limited (“CIFHL"). CIFHL is wholly owned by China
CITIC Bank Corporation Limited (“CCBCL"). CCBCL is owned as to 65.37% by CITIC
Corporation Ltd (“CCL"). CCL is a wholly owned subsidiary of CITIC Limited (“CL").
CL is owned as to 32.53% by CITIC Polaris Limited (“CPL") and as to 25.6% by CITIC
Glory Limited (“CGL"). CPL and CGL are wholly owned subsidiaries of CITIC Group
Corporation.
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3. To the best information, knowledge and belief of the Directors, Kingsway Lion Spur
Technology Limited (“KLSTL") is a wholly owned subsidiary of Festival Developments
Limited (“FDL"). FDL is wholly owned by Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited.
As at 31 December 2021, Mr. Choi Koon Shum was interested and/or deemed to be
interested in 55.96% of the issued share capital of Sunwah Kingsway.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Company has
not been notified by any other persons (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, whose interests are set out in the section
“Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in shares,
underlying shares and debentures”) who had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which are required to be
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Company had the following continuing connected
transactions, details of which were disclosed in compliance with the
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Custodian Agreement

The Company had appointed Bank of Communications Trustee Limited
(the "Custodian”) as custodian since 2019. The custodian agreement with
Bank of Communications Trustee Limited (the “Custodian Agreement”)
was effective and will continue to be in force until terminated by either the
Company or the Custodian by giving the other party not less than 30 days
advance notice in writing.

Pursuant to the Custodian Agreement, the Company will pay the
Custodian a monthly fee of the higher of (a) the net asset value of the
portfolio of the Company at each month equal to the rate 0.04% per
annum, or (b) HK$12,500 per month.

During the Year, the total custodian fee of HK$150,469 was paid by the
Company to the Custodian.
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NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTION

Investment Management Agreement

Pursuant to the investment management agreement dated 30 November
2020 (the “Investment Management Agreement”), the Company
appointed Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited as the investment
manager to provide the Company with investment management services
for period of three years from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023.
The Investment Manager is entitled to receive from the Company a
management fee accruing monthly at the annual amount of HK$600,000
and payable monthly in advance from 1 January 2021 onwards.

During the Year, the management fee of HK$600,000 was paid by the
Company.

The Investment Manager is regarded as a connected person of the
Company under Rule 21.13 of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the
service provided by the Investment Manager to the Company under the
Investment Management Agreement constituted a continuing connected
transaction of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ OPINION ON CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In the opinion of the Directors, including the independent non-executive
Directors of the Company, the terms of and the transactions contemplated
under the Investment Management Agreement and the Custodian
Agreement have been entered into after arm’s length negotiation, on
normal commercial terms, and in the ordinary course of business of the
Company, and are fair and reasonable and in the interest of the Company
and the shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Company’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an
unqualified letter containing the findings and conclusions in respect of
the non-exempt continuing connected transactions disclosed above by
the Company in accordance with Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A copy
of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.
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POTENTIAL CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Currently the Investment Manager and their directors, officers and
employees provide management and advisory services to a number of
hedge funds, mutual funds and managed discretionary accounts with
similar investment objectives to the Company.

From time to time conflicts of interest may arise between the interest of
the Company and those of other clients. In such situations, the Investment
Manager will have regard to its obligations to the Company to act in the
best interests of the Company, so far as is practicable having regard also to
its obligations to the other clients.

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee is a Director of the Company and the Investment
Manager and is involved in the day-to-day operations of each of these
entities. This may give rise to conflicts of interest.

As the overall interests of the Company and Investment Manager are
aligned, the Directors are of the view that Mr. Chan will be able to act
in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. In addition,
all major decisions of each of these companies will be made by their
respective board of directors of these companies as a whole and not at the
sole discretion of Mr. Chan. In the case of the Company, this includes the
independent non-executive Directors, the non-executive Directors and the
executive Director, Mr. Gu Xu.

Mr. Chan will maintain confidentiality in respect of the information of each
of the funds managed by the Investment Manager. They are also aware
of their obligations under the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong
Kong’s Internal Control Guidelines that they are required to establish and
ensure the integrity and security of all information relevant to the business
operations of the respective entities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights in respect of the shares of
the Company under the articles of association of the Company although
there are no restrictions against such rights under the laws of Cayman
Islands.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Save as disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 43 to 57,
the Company has complied with all applicable code provisions set out in
the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules during the Year
and up to the date of this report.
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AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited will retire at the forthcoming AGM of
the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant events occurring after 31 December 2021 are set out
in note 29 to the finance statements.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
INFORMATION

As at 31 December 2021, the Company had seven full-time employees,
two executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. Details of the fees or emoluments
of Directors in respect of their services rendered to the Company and staff
cost during the Year are set out in Note 8 and Note 9 respectively to the
financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules as at the date of
this report.

On behalf of the Board

Huang Bin
EREL
Co-Chairman
s F
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The Board of the Company has committed to maintaining good corporate
governance standards. The Board believes that a good corporate
governance standard will provide a framework for the Company to
formulate its business strategies and policies, and manage the associated
risks through effective internal control procedures. It will also enhance the
transparency and accountability of the Company to safeguard the interests
of the shareholders and creditors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied most of the principles set out in the CG Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Board is of the view
that throughout the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company was in
compliance with the code provisions as set out in the CG Code, save and
except for the deviation from code provision A.2.1.

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. During the Year, Mr. Gu Xu has been both the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He provides leadership to the
Board and is responsible for the Company’s business development and
daily management generally. The Board believes that vesting the roles
of both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in the same individual can
provide the Company with strong and consistent leadership and allows for
effective and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions
and strategies. The Board believes that the balance of power and authority
is adequately ensured by the operations of the Board which comprises
experienced and high-calibre individuals, with three of them being
independent non-executive Directors.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Mode Code as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry to all
the Directors of the Company, all the Directors confirmed that they had
complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2021.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises eleven members,
two of which are executive Directors, namely Mr. Gu Xu, who is the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, and Mr. Chan Cheong Yee. The other
nine members comprise five non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Huang
Bin and Mr. Choi Chit Sze Jackson, both of them are the Co-Chairmen of
the Company, Mr. Choi Koon Ming, Mr. Wang Dingben and Mr. Chow
Yeung Tuen Richard and four independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Chong Ching Hoi, Mr. Leung Wai Lim, Mr. Sun Boquan and
Mr. Lam King. The relationship of Mr. Choi Koon Ming and Mr. Choi Chit
Sze Jackson is uncle and nephew, save as disclosed herein, there is no
relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship) among other members of the Board. The biographical details
of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Profiles of Directors” on
pages 24 to 30 of this annual report.

The Board held five meetings during the year ended 31 December 2021.
The Board is responsible, inter alia, for establishing the investment
objective and policies of the Company, for complying with the Company’s
investment restrictions, for monitoring the Company’s performance and
for the appointing, supervising, directing and, if necessary, removing any
of the Company’s service providers, including the Investment Manager.

Current composition of the Board, including names of the independent
non-executive Directors, is disclosed in all corporate communications to
shareholders of the Company.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information and accounts
of the Company. The Directors may seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the expense of the Company. The
Company will, upon request, provide separate independent professional
advice to the Directors to assist them to discharge their duties to the
Company.
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RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND
CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the Company’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance
and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the Company’s
affairs. The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Company’s operational and
financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place. All Directors, including independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning. The independent non-executive
Directors are responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory
reporting of the Company and providing a balance in the Board for
bringing effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

Corporate Governance Report
/\ALII_/\—/'\- N

E./El#&l::

 ERERERARARWEE RN
RESRIEFNIRIA - u&wﬁﬁﬁhg&
ﬂZ%ﬁ EEeHEENMEZEARE
g ﬂﬁﬁ”W&%Eﬁim RER
BRESIERATM EEARQFNEERIB
B WHEREN 2N EIENRRER
HE - 2RES(REBLIENTES)AE
FEHRLEEHIEEEB LR NERE
R FERBRERMERE - BUIENTES
BERRAQANSEREEERS  WRESE
SRIFE  REETHREERD YN
B L H o

EXeREREMBEREE  ER S NEE
EH RBELEE ANEEMEARER E
AR5 (AR BEES M @mRERR) W15
BR - ZEEFRAR TE@EK%@%Eo
BERWNTEFSRR - HBERBALR
MREBZBENERTEERE -

FEIFEEIRERR AR / FHR 2021

45



46

Corporate Governance Report

(2R

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received induction on the first occasion
of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness of Director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. All
Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.

A summary of training received by the Directors during the year ended 31

December 2021 according to the records provided by the Directors is as
follows:

Name of Directors

EECHEERRE

EXEEBEEERNEC  UARBITER
B UHEREHESSNERBRITANEAAERE -

BENZENESINHBZE 2RI AR
Bl RN SEEER AR EH R EE
AR Fetn R 2 E A R RRRAERER T
EENRENREE-

ERE2EQENKESEERUEARERN
fBZﬁE’\]%DE%%&&ab CARFBEEREZLE
R IIRE - BRAARAIRAIE -

RIEBETIRE 208 #Z=2021F12 A 31
BIEFE  BEZCEIHEIBS0T

Seminar and training on
corporate governance,
regulatory development and
other relevant topics
BREXER BEERER
Hitt B EENHEEREI

EEp

Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Gu Xu BENB e &
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee PREZESLE
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Wang Dingben FTAREA
Mr. Chow Yeung Tuen Richard BB AE
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFHITES
Mr. Chong Ching Hoi HESEE
Mr. Leung Wai Lim RMERRT S
Mr. Sun Boquan FRE2EE
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. During the Year, Mr. Gu Xu had been the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He provided leadership to the
Board and is responsible for the Company’s business development and
daily management generally. The Board believes that vesting the roles
of both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in the same individual can
provide the Company with strong and consistent leadership and allows for
effective and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions
and strategies. The Board believes that the balance of power and authority
is adequately ensured by the operations of the Board which comprises
experienced and high-calibre individuals, with three of them being
independent non-executive Directors.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the Year, the Board has at all times complied with the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to having a minimum of three independent
non-executive Directors (representing at least one-third of the Board)
with one of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received a written annual confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his independence
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent
nonexecutive Directors are independent.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board established three committees, namely, the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the
Company are established with defined written terms of reference which
deal clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the
Board committees are available to the shareholders on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

All members of each Board committee consist of independent non-
executive Directors only and the list of the chairman and members of each
Board committee is set out in the section headed “Corporate Information”
on pages 2 to 4 of this annual report.

Corporate Governance Report
/\ALII_/\—/'\- N

E./El#&l::

ERRITHRAR

STRMESER A2 MRBE - /R BITHARD
ABEARY  WATEHA - ARERE R
REE - BB EEEARRER RITHARE
B BEEREWABANFBEREH
REATERE -BEFGHE - ARKRE
B RITRARS 2 BH A AR RIEMAE M
FENRE  YAIBARAEBAYNEAME
Wb E R B M ITRER RN RS - EF R
E EFCHERNEFALHRENR  Hh=

FRBUIFNTES  REFEESAI N E
RIESD RER G T -

BYFBITES

RAFE EF2—BETLETRURE %
BRIZZEIFNTESR (ELHEZTE=
D) HP - RBEEREEXRERNE
BT HEEER -

RRREESBIERITESRIE EMHAIE
3. 131!%%%2?%21‘%5%\Fdﬁﬁi\%ﬁ’l‘ﬁétﬂ B
EEEMBRE - ANRARRABMBEBYIENITE
EHARBILAT o

EEZET

ERgOKNU=EZEE  AEZEES -
MEZEgRRREEE - A%?K&T%WZ
FEER - ARRIFTBEEEEES ’JE BECE
EH%E%@E ARG ERERRE BEX

eBEGEETIERARF R ?&ﬁﬁzﬁlﬁ
T/\Hxﬁﬁﬁﬁ

SERREC AKX BEREB N IFNTT
= Xé%é,\aZEﬂiﬁﬂ%%%ﬁE’\$¢
WE2EAB[RAIER]—5F -

FEIFEEIRERR AR / FHR 2021

47



48

Corporate Governance Report
CRERERE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board
in reviewing the financial information and reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems, audit plan and relationship with
external auditors, and arrangements to enable employees of the Company
to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, risk management system, internal control or other matters of
the Company. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31
December 2021 to review interim and annual financial results and
reports and significant issues on the financial reporting, operational
and compliance controls, the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems, scope of work and appointment of external
auditors, and arrangements for employees to raise concerns about
possible improprieties. The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting
principles and policies adopted by the Company and the annual results and
audited financial statement for the Year.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors once without the
presence of the executive Directors during the Year.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include (but
without limitation) (i) making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure of all remuneration of the Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy on such remuneration; (ii) determining
the terms of the specific remuneration package of the Directors and
senior management; and (iii) reviewing and approving performance-
based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives
resolved by the Directors from time to time. The terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out
in the CG Code.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year ended
31 December 2021 to consider the relevant matters regarding the
remuneration policy and structure of the Company and the remuneration
packages of the executive Directors and senior management and other
related matters.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board and making
recommendations to the Board on the proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategies, developing and
formulating relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment of
Directors, making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, and
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors. The
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would
take into account various aspects set out in the Company’s Board
Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee would also discuss and make
recommendations to the Board on measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant criteria as
set out in the Director Nomination Policy that are necessary to complement
the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate,
before making recommendation to the Board.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31
December 2021 to review the structure, size and composition of the Board
and the independence of the independent non-executive Directors, to
consider the qualifications of the retiring Directors standing for election at
the 2021 annual general meeting.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The Company recognises
and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in maintaining the
Company’s competitive advantage.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee will
review annually the structure, size and composition of the Board and
where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the
Board maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing and
assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee is committed
to diversity at all levels and will consider a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and regional and industry
experience.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s business growth and is
also committed to ensuring that recruitment and selection practices at all
levels (from the Board downwards) are appropriately structured so that a
diverse range of candidates are considered. The Nomination Committee
considered that the Board is sufficiently diverse and will review the Board
Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection and
appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee of the Company.

The Company has adopted a Director Nomination Policy which sets out
the selection criteria and process and the Board succession planning
considerations in relation to nomination and appointment of Directors of
the Company and aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company and
the continuity of the Board and appropriate leadership at Board level.
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The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the
suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed
candidate, including but not limited to the following:

o Character and integrity;

o Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience that are relevant to the Company’s business and
corporate strategy;

o Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18
years or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

o Requirements of independent non-executive Directors on the Board
and independence of the proposed independent non-executive
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules; and

o Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest
to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.

The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures for the
selection and appointment of new Directors and re-election of Directors at
general meetings.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions as set out in the
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. During the Year, the Board had
reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices,
training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and
Written Employee Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosures in this Corporate Governance Report.

Corporate Governance Report
/\ALM/\—/\- \

1> /D#&D

EERABRFIIHEEBAEREAE LY
EXgBHEERMZER  BHEETRRAT
KIE -

f

o%

e

[ ]
Bo

o HEARFEBMEEREEBENER (B
? RHEEER  REE - ABRER)

e FBHEZERE BERETRRER -

Fie (18I L) » MERHBEB=S -
Bk BELSH HEL ABRERBF
‘g

s WRELTRAUBBESE ZEUIFNIT
BEFERIREBYIFATEFZHEILIE L
ME &

o FLAARRE KBRS A& - ARBTT
ERARFEEER LEFZEGK
B 2B e

EERABRNEINBERZETHESULE
BRRAGLEREREZEF

TEERBEE

EEgRERTRETATAZTAKRNYE
DIVIEFE 2 BaE - RAFE - EFEER
AARBZEEBERBRERER BERER
ERE BN RFEEEERE AQEEES
FEREERT  BTEETFRESEMIE
SIARAAREETEEE ST HEZER
REHR - WRADEERMEPHE -

FEIFEEIRERR AR / FHR 2021

51



52

Corporate Governance Report
CRERERE

DIRECTORS’ RE-ELECTION

Code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code states that every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. The independent non-executive
Directors of the Company are appointed for a specific term of 3 years,
subject to renewal after the expiry of the current term.

The circular to shareholders of the Company with notice of the AGM
contains biographical details of all the Directors proposed to be re-elected
at the meeting to enable shareholders of the Company to make an
informed decision on re-election of Directors.

ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AT
MEETINGS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board Committee
meetings and the general meetings of the Company held during the year
ended 31 December 2021 is set out in the table below:

EEEE

EEERTAZTANRXFEAL2EHER
EX(BRAEEANCES)BELEB=F
—REWERE - ARBBILIFNITES ZEH
R=F ARETHERRES-

AARARRBERFEZBKERBRAFAER
TERREEENAS LEE MAESZERE
A UWEARR ZBERAINBEEEZHEL
FIERTE °

ESHFEERER

BEFHEARANEZ2021F12A31 81
FERTNEZSNESTZESSHUNRRE
RERBERERTE

Meeting attended/held
HEBITERRE
Annual/
Extraordinary

Audit Remuneration  Nomination General
Board Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee Meetings
BREAE/
Exg ENZRE HMZEEE REZ5e REIXE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Gu Xu RENE e A& 4/5 - - - n
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee PREZ LA 5/5 - - - 1/1
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Wang Dingben FTAREA 5/5 - - - 1/1
Mr. Chow Yeung Tuen Richard ~ &F 5 & L A& 4/5 - - - 1/1
Independent Non-executive BYKHTES
Directors
Mr. Chong Ching Hoi HEELE A 5/5 22 1/1 171 1/1
Mr. Leung Wai Lim 2UERREA 5/5 22 1/1 17N 1/1
Mr. Sun Boguan FREztE 5/5 22 1/1 1/1 1/1

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held meeting with
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare financial
statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
for each financial year and to present the interim results, annual financial
statements, and related announcements to shareholders.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. The statement of the independent auditors
of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 67 to
73.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.

The risk management and internal control systems are in place both at the
Company and the Investment Manager level. The Investment Manager
has in place a comprehensive risk management and internal control policy
which includes procedures requiring regular performance of various risk
analysis on the Company’s portfolio and close monitoring of the portfolio
against the Company’s investment objective, policies and restrictions.
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At the Company level, a risk committee (the “Risk Committee”) which
consists of Mr. Chan Cheong Yee, an executive Director, Chong Ching Hoi,
an independent non-executive Director and relevant staff, is responsible
for monitoring the operational and portfolio risks to the Company and
monitoring the Investment Manager including reviewing whether the
investment objectives, policies and restrictions are being followed by
the Investment Manager. In case of any deviation, the Risk Committee
will discuss deviations with the Investment Manager immediately and
monitor remedial action. For all material deviations, the Risk Committee
will formulate recommendations to the Board on the appropriate remedial
actions to be taken. The Risk Committee meets on a monthly basis, or
more regularly if a meeting is requested by any risk committee member.

The Board, as supported by the Risk Committee, the Audit Committee
as well as the management, reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems, including the financial, operational and compliance
controls, for the Year, and considered that such systems are effective and
adequate. The annual review also covered the financial reporting and staff
qualifications, experiences and relevant resources.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the Company’s financial statements for the
Year is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” in
this annual report.

During the Year, the remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s

independent auditors, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, for audit
services is HK$550,000, and non-audit service is HK$11,700 respectively.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tai Man Hin Tony (“Mr. Tai"), Chief Financial Officer of the Company,
is the company secretary of the Company.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary on corporate governance and board practices and matters.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, Mr. Tai has undertaken not less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convening extraordinary general
meeting

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law (2013
Revision). However, shareholders are requested to follow Article 25.3 of
the Articles of Association of the Company. Pursuant to Article 25.3 of
the Articles of Association of the Company, general meetings shall be
convened on the written requisition of any members of the Company
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist(s),
provided that such requisitionist(s) hold(s) as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than ten per cent in the Net Asset Value of the shares
of the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company. If the Board does not within 21 days from the date
of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to
be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any
of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as
nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the
Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months after the 21 days from the date of deposit of
the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.
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Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director

The provisions for a shareholder to propose a person for election as a
Director of the Company are laid down in Article 34.3 of the Company’s
Articles of Association. No person other than a Director retiring at the
meeting shall, unless recommended by the Board for election, be eligible
for election as a Director at any general meeting unless a notice in writing
of the intention to propose such person for election as a Director, signed
by a shareholder (other than the person to be proposed for election as
a Director) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which
such notice is given, and a notice in writing signed by such person of
his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the registered
office of the Company. The minimum length of the period during which
such notices are given shall be at least seven (7) days and the period for
lodgement of such notices shall commence on the day after the dispatch
of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end
no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting.

PUTTING FORWARD ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send written enquiries or request to the Company, for
the attention of Company Secretary, by fax: (852) 2706 9544, or mail to
22/F., CS Tower, 50 Wing Lok Street, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Company’s business performance and strategies. The Company
endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders and in
particular, through annual general meetings or other general meetings.

The Co-Chairmen of the Board and Chairman of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee will make
themselves available at the annual general meeting to meet with the
shareholders and answer their enquiries.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.chinaneweconomyfund.com, where up-to-date information and
updates on the Company’s financial information, corporate governance
practices and other information are available for public access.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on payment of dividends.
The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the conditions
and factors as set out in the Dividend Policy, dividends may be proposed
and/or declared by the Board during a financial year and any final dividend
for a financial year will be subject to the shareholders” approval.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, the Company has not made any changes to its
Memorandum and Articles of Association. The Company’s Memorandum
and Articles of Association is available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.
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This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") report (the “ESG
Report”) has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in
Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules issued by the Stock Exchange. In respect
of the information concerning “corporate governance”, please refer to the
relevant parts of the Company’s annual report.

The ESG Report describes the ESG performance made by the Company
during the Year. The scope of the ESG Report covers the business
operation in the management head office at Hong Kong.

The Board of the Company recognises the importance of ESG in meeting
the changing expectations of stakeholders while enhancing the value and
performance of the Company. Hence, the Board working together with
the management has taken on the overall responsibility of assessing and
identifying risks associated with ESG matters of the Company, and engage
in the mission to promote environmentally and socially sustainable culture
among all its employees to maintain long-term growth of the Company.

This culture enables the Company to formulate appropriate ESG policies
and procedures, to monitor and measure the progress of the ESG
efforts, and also to report on its performances to investors and key
stakeholders. The Company values its stakeholders and their views relating
to its businesses and environmental, social and governance issues. In
order to understand and address stakeholders’ concerns, the Company
communicates with its key stakeholders including but not limited to
investors, customers, government bodies, employees, suppliers and
communities through different channels.

In formulating operational strategies and ESG measures, the Company
takes into account the stakeholders’ expectations and strives to improve its
performance through mutual cooperation with the stakeholders, resulting
in creating greater value for the community.

The aspects and key performance indicators as defined in the ESG

Reporting Guide which were considered to be relevant and material to the
Company will be presented below.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ENVIRONMENTAL AREA

Aspect A1: Emissions and Waste

During the Year, the Company has complied with relevant
environmental laws and regulations, including Air Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Waste Disposal
Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Water Pollution
Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

The Company was not aware of any non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that has an impact relating to air and
greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions, discharges into water and land,
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste of the Company
during the Year (2020: Nil).

No fines or non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations had been reported during the Year
(2020: Nil).

Due to nature of the Company’s business, it produces no direct air
or direct GHG emissions. A small amount of GHG were emitted
indirectly during the Year from the consumption of electricity in
the office, which was supplied by power station where GHG were
directly emitted.

No hazardous waste was produced and there was no discharge
into water and land during the Year (2020: Nil). An insignificant
small amount of non-hazardous wastes were collected at the office,
which were primarily waste paper, office supplies, and domestic
wastes. Despite minimal impact to the environment, the Company
has implemented environmental-friendly measures to manage GHG
emissions and waste production as described in the later section
titled “environmental-friendly measures”.
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R - wwhER

i

Scopes of GHG emissions

Scope 1 —

Scope 2 -

Scope 3 -

Direct emissions from operations that are owned or
controlled by the Company, such as the use of company
vehicle;

Energy indirect emissions resulting from purchased
electricity consumed by the Company;

Other indirect emissions that occur outside the
Company, including both upstream and downstream
emissions, such as methane gas generation at landfill
due to disposal of paper waste, GHG emissions due to
electricity used for processing fresh water and sewage

by government departments and business air travel by

employees.

The amount of emissions under these different GHG scopes in CO,

equivalent ("CO,e") during the Year was as follows:

(Units: Tonnes of CO,e
(B W_E{tBMEE)

GHG emissions

BERBHER

Major sources

FERR

2021
20215

Emission
volume

BFHE

BEREHMZERE

#I5E1—- BARARMEELIESFZE
BEEZEZRER  WER
NCIER TN

B2— BARFEEIMNBENRE
2 BRI B AR ;

AR AASNE & 2 H At A 2
BE BREHF R TR ZHE
M MR R R B AN
EEZFl BTEBPIRERE
RIKNIFKEFRME M
HHRERBHN  ANE
B R kT SRS TR ©

#ES3—

RAFE ZETFRREREBHIE T 2
HHE A —SemEE(—atRE
BIRR)WAT

2020

20204
Emission
Intensities volume Intensities
ZE HEE HE
(Note) (Note 1)
(Bt EE) (MzE1)

Scope 1
&g
Direct emissions

BEERHMW

H=

Scope 2
g2
Energy indirect emissions

BRI BN

Purchased electricity
HEE

Scope 3
&3
Other indirect emissions

Hip RN

Disposal of paper

EEER

Total GHG emissions

BERBHRAE

7.24

0.29

7.53

Note: Intensity is measured by dividing the relevant emissions by the number of

employees as at the end of the Year.

The Company generated no scope 1 emissions and an insignificant
amount of scope 3 emissions during the Year. Approximately 7.24
tonnes of scope 2 emissions was generated during the Year. The
emission has been consistent since there has been no change in the

pattern of the Company’s electricity usage.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

As detailed in the section headed “Emissions and Waste", electricity
consumption was a major source of indirect GHG emission during
the Year. The consumption of electricity was similar to that in the
same period in previous year. The amount of consumption by types
of energy or resources during the Year was as follows:

RIE - g LEARE

BHEA2: ERER

WP M EERY) | — iR - AE

AAFERZEAEREIRZ TZHRT
BEEREFRYPHES - RAFE - &

BERKERERIE D 2 HFEEMT ¢

2020
20204

Energy and resources Unites Amount Intensities Amount Intensities
BERKER B BE RE HE TR

(Note) (Note)

GE (P &E)
Electricity kWh 10,199 1,457 8,132 1,162
BN TRE
Paper Kilograms 9 72 10
|ER TR

Note: Intensity is measured by dividing the relevant emissions by the number of
employees as at the end of the Year.

The Company consumes water in the office from a centralised water
and sanitation system implemented in the building. The cost of water
consumption of the Company is inclusive in the management fee,
and the building management does not individually measure the
water consumption of each tenant and hence no relevant data can
be collected.

Due to the nature of the Company’s business no packaging material
was used.

Paper was primarily used for office printing. During the Year, a
total of approximately 60 kg of paper was consumed, there was no
change in the usage pattern of paper compared to previous years.

Despite minimal impact to the environment, energy and resource
conservation are essential parts of the Company’s ESG strategy
which will be detailed in the later section titled “environmental-
friendly measures”.
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Aspect A3: Environment and Natural Resources

The Company does not use any natural resources in the process of
its business, and hence the impact on the environment or natural
resources was minimal during the Year. Nonetheless the Company is
well aware of the importance in environmental protection, and has
adopted policies and a range of measures to minimise current impact
and manage any potential adverse impact in the future, persisting in
conducting our business in an environmentally responsible manner.
These policies and measures are described below.

Environmental-friendly measures

The Company has always put great emphasis on energy and resource
conservation, which is shown by its engagement in energy savings
and implementation of workplace strategies to reduce energy and
water consumptions. Accordingly, the Company has the following
measures which are regularly carried out to achieve its ESG strategy
in the course of the Company’s operations:

1. Employees are encouraged to use video/telephone
conferencing system to reduce business travel and take public
transportation wherever possible to lower environmental
impact from the burning of fossil fuel.

2. The Company has also implemented energy and water saving
practices, such as maintaining workplace temperature at a
comfortably low level with reference to the relevant standard
recommended by the Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department of the Hong Kong Government to reduce energy
use.

3. Engaged in environmental-friendly measures in the workplace
in the effort to lower energy consumption, for instance,
employees of the Company are reminded to minimise their
impact on the environment and the use of natural resources
when conducting business.

4. Waste reduction measures include monitoring and recording
paper usage on a monthly basis, and promoting the use of
recycled paper and double-sided printing are actively adopted
wherever possible.

5. The Company’s efficient use of resources and waste reduction
initiatives and guidelines are stipulated in the Staff Handbook
and policies where appropriate to educate and promote ESG to
employees.
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Aspect A4: Climate Change

There is no significant climate-related issues which had impacted,
and which may impact the Company due to nature of the Company’s
business.

SOCIAL SUBJECT AREAS

Aspect B1: Employment

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable assets
of the Company. Remuneration Committee was set up to providing
a fair and equitable workplace environment for employees, and
ensures that they are reasonably remunerated.

The Company has incorporated guidelines into the Staff Handbook,
covering all aspects of employment, including working hours, rest
periods, salary and welfare, code of conduct, and anti-bribery.
Employment policies in the Staff Handbook have been reviewed and
regularly updated.

The Company has fully complied with the Employment Ordinance,
the Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480), the Disability
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 487), the Family Status
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 527) and the Race Discrimination
Ordinance (Chapter 602). The Company was not aware of any
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that has
an impact relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare during the Year
(2020: Nil).

As at the end of the Year, there were seven (included five males and
two females) full-time employees employed by the Company (2020:
seven).The Company is based in Hong Kong and all of its employees
work at the Hong Kong office. During the Year, the turnover rate is
0%.
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Aspect B2: Health and Safety

The Company is committed to providing a safe and healthy working
environment for all of its employees, protecting them from any
potential occupational hazards. The tasks of the employees are
mainly office-based, and thus safety issues are not as pertinent
to the job nature. The Company also offers coverage on medical
insurance (including in-patient and out-patient) and compensation
to employees in the event of sickness and work-related injury.
During the Year, the Company complied with all relevant laws and
regulations including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance (Chapter 509) in Hong Kong and did not record
any work-related fatality, injury or lost day in the past three years.

Aspect B3: Development and Training

The Company attaches great importance to the staff development
and quality of employee. The Company has offered training
opportunities from external organisations, and offers flexible training
time to facilitate all employees to reinforce skill sets and to keep up-

to-date with the latest knowledge in their profession.

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

The Company is committed to preventing child and forced labour
in the workplace and complying with all applicable labour laws and

regulations on employment in Hong Kong.

The Company respects human rights and treats this as an important
factor when making investment in human capital in comprehensive
screening process in order to recruit employees with good quality.
The Company requires all job applicants to provide valid identity
documents and personal data and background information will
be collected and verified in details to ensure that they are lawfully
employable prior to confirmation of any employment and preventing

illegal workers, child labour and forced labor.

Employee work schedules are set up fairly to keep within standard
work hours and the employees are entitled to annual leave, sick

leave, marriage leave, maternity leave and compassionate leave.
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Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

The Company’s principle activity is investment holding. Unlike
those companies which manufacture, trade or provide services, the
Company has relatively few suppliers and a very simplistic supply
chain. The environmental and social impacts with regards to supplier
chain is relatively low.

The Company’s suppliers are mainly those third-party suppliers
providing services such as information technology, property
management, advertising, legal and consulting, and third-party
suppliers of goods such as office equipment, and printing and
stationery. All of the suppliers were based in Hong Kong.

The Company maintains practices that build up positive relationships
with its suppliers as well as focusing on service quality when selecting
suppliers. The Company purchases from a list of approved suppliers
that have been awarded for their quality of goods and services
through the selection process.

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

Due to the Company’s business nature, it does not deliver a product
or service and hence product responsibility is not applicable to the
Company.

The Company has complied with relevant law and regulations
with regards to data protection and privacy when transacting with
third-party and dealing with member share registration matters.
Unauthorised copying, dissemination or disclosure of confidential
information, including identities and records of transactions of
registered members, are strictly prohibited. During the Year, the
Company has not received any significant complaint from any
stakeholders (2020: Nil).
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Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

The Company has strict policies that ensures adherence to the
highest ethical standards and maintains a corporate culture
of integrity and justice to prevent, detect and report all types
of corruption, including bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering. In complying with provisions included in the Staff
Handbook, employees at all levels are expected to conduct in an
appropriate manner, with integrity, impartiality and honesty.

The Company has complied with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
(Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing (Financial Institutions)
Ordinance (Chapter 615 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other
relevant laws in regions in which the Company invests. The Company
was not aware of any significant matter related to corruption during
the Year (2020: Nil).

Aspect B8: Community Investment

The Company focuses on the surrounding communities and
encourages employees to participate in various local community
activities and events on a voluntary basis on the focus areas. The
Company will make the best use of its influence to address the
community needs and will continue to act socially responsible in the
future.

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2021

BEB7 : RES

RRABRIABREBREREBER=KE
ZEBEREAYREREAEZBEXL
ABsEE ~ (RR MR E PR BRI 2 E)5TT
5o BREER DR BRFERARE R
BT BT FMAEURN  FRBERBZE
BHFURE  RAEMHRE ST ALZET

Ht

ARRRIE BT LR RS (BEEBIH
2018) - HTERBERRHD TESEE
(2 REE) R0 (BREHF6158E) &
RARREMAEER 2 L ARRDER -
RAFE  RRARY T HEESHEEZ
EAIEAEIE (20204 : M) o

ETBS : HtEBHRE

AAFEEIESELR  FsEEE )
SEEFN2NEIEBNSEE L
BITENAS - ARRERDBEEER
ZhAMEBMHESRR  RBREEERE
THEEE-



Independent Auditors’ Report
RV A TR

HE st E W A R A A
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

To the shareholders of China New Economy Fund Limited
(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability)

OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of China New Economy Fund
Limited (the “Company”) set out on pages 74 to 159, which comprise
the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement
of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2021, and of
its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (”IFRSs")
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (“ISAs") issued by the International Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board (“IAASB"). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Carrying amount of listed investments

As can be seen from Note 16 to the financial statements, the aggregate
fair value of the Company’s listed equity investments amounted to
HK$30,512,545 as at 31 December 2021, which comprised approximately
26% of the total of the Company’s assets (by carrying value) as at 31
December 2021 and were significant to the Company’s capital and
financial performance. Due to their materiality, they are one of the areas
which had the greatest effect on our overall audit strategy.

Our procedures over the existence, valuation and completeness of the
Company’s portfolio of listed investments included:

o Assessing the processes in place to record investment transactions
and to value the portfolio;

o Agreeing the pricing of all the listed investments to externally quoted
prices; and

o Obtaining from independent third party custodian confirmations on
all the listed investments.

Carrying amount of suspended listed investments

As can be seen from Note 16 to the financial statements, the investment
portfolio of the Company as at 31 December 2021 also included
investments in suspended listed investments, which do not have an active
market.

We focused on this area because of the significance of these investments
in the financial statements, and because determining the valuation
methodology and the inputs involved high degree of estimation
uncertainty and required significant judgement to be applied by the
investment manager and the board of directors.
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Our procedures over the existence and valuation of the Company’s
portfolio of suspended listed investments included:

o Assessing the valuation methodologies applied for appropriateness
against accepted market practice;

o Assessing the assumptions made in determining the valuation of
these investments by considering factors which may impact their
fair values, including the duration of suspension period, the relevant
market information and news of the suspended listed equities, the
price movement of comparable listed equities or index during the
suspension period;

o Comparing the assumptions used in the Company’s models and
methodologies to independent external sources where possible;

o Involving our valuation experts to assist in assessing the valuation
techniques and inputs used, particularly where the valuation inputs
unobservable; and

Evaluating the adequacy of financial statement disclosures.

Carrying amount of unlisted investments

As disclosed in Note 16 to the financial statements, the investment
portfolio includes investments in direct private equity investments and
investments in promissory notes and unlisted bond, all of which are
unlisted and unquoted.

We focused on this area because of the significance of these investments
in the financial statements, and because determining the valuation
methodology and the inputs involved estimation uncertainty and required
significant judgement to be applied by the investment manager and the
board of directors.

Our procedures over the existence and valuation of the Company’'s
portfolio of unlisted investments included:

o Assessing the design and operating effectiveness of the financial
reporting controls we considered significant in the valuations and
model approval process;

o Assessing the valuation methodologies applied for appropriateness
against accepted market practice;
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o Considering whether the application of methodologies is consistent
with generally accepted valuation methodologies and prior periods;

o Comparing the assumptions used in the Company’s models and
methodologies to independent external sources where possible;

o Involving our valuation experts to assist in assessing these valuation
techniques and inputs used, particularly where valuation inputs were
unobservable;

o Reconciling input data to supporting evidence, such as latest
financial information/statements approved by independent auditors;

o Comparing the recent transaction price with the valuation basis
provided by management; and

o Evaluating the adequacy of financial statement disclosures.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report
thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not and will not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors of the Company are
responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Company’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that
includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Hui Chun Keung, David.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hui Chun Keung, David
Practising Certificate Number: P05447

Hong Kong, 29 March 2022
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

B LA R E SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z2021F12A31HILFE

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes HK$ HK$
B 7 BT BT
REVENUE PN 5 2,547,989 3,417,096
Net change in fair value of financial EAFEFREBERVIEZSHME
assets at fair value through profit EZ AV EEEFE
or loss 6 7,181,427 (23,661,821)
Other operating expenses EmiEERY (14,592,920) (10,526,541)
OPERATING LOSS EEEIE (4,863,504) (30,771,266)
Finance costs B 7% A AN 7(a) (116,735) (335,425)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BRBLATE R 7(b) (4,980,239) (31,106,691)
Income tax expense B 12 = -
LOSS AND TOTAL AT ERERSEEAENL
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR FRFEREZHEEAE
THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY (4,980,239) (31,106,691)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE ZAATEBEREZIZHEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS FE{hEREE
OF THE COMPANY 13
— Basic (restated for 2020) —ER(2020F&E5) (0.007) (0.05)
— Diluted (restated for 2020) — 55 (2020 F & &) (0.007) (0.05)
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Statement of Financial Position

BIFSIROER

At 31 December 2021 7202112 H31H

2021 2020
202145 20204
Notes HK$ HK$
B 5 BT BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Right-of-use asset FHEEE 14(a) 890,036 71,411
Deposits R& 15 126,740 72,205
Total non-current assets IEREEELLE 1,016,776 143,616
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments and other receivables — F8 15 F I8 & H b & U 7B 15 2,939,686 4,420,933
Amounts due from brokers U AE 42 AFRIE 15 240,723 500,226
Financial assets at fair value through &2 QAFEFEBIEZRTIR 2
profit or loss DREE 16 109,354,628 70,545,419
Cash and cash equivalents BehBaE 18 2,277,187 2,000,472
Total current assets MEEELE 114,812,224 77,467,050
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables and accruals B B R ERTE A 19 1,168,447 1,761,306
Amount due to a broker B — R4 4 AFRIA 20 - 4,659,540
Lease liability HEAE 14(b) 387,578 77,107
Total current liabilities mEaEEE 1,556,025 6,497,953
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 113,256,199 70,969,097
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHAERRBER
LIABILITIES 114,272,975 71,112,713
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Lease liability HEaE 14(b) 536,982 -
Total non-current liabilities ERBBERE 536,982 -
NET ASSETS EEFE 113,735,993 71,112,713
EQUITY s
Issued capital BEITAR AR 22 34,568,595 24,005,969
Reserves G 79,167,398 47,106,744
Total equity BmBE 113,735,993 71,112,713
NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE BREEFE 0.13 0.12
Gu Xu Chan Cheong Yee
&8 RE&
Director Director
EZE E2
FEIFEEIRERR AR / FHR 2021 75



Statement of Changes in Equity
RS E

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z2021F12A31HILFE

Share
Issued Share  Distributable options  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
ERITRE RVEE THIKEE  BRERE 2t B8 H
HKS HK$ HKS HK$ HK$ HKS
BT B B B BT BT
(Note 22) (Note 22) (Note) (Note 21)
(MzE22) (M#E22) e (FesE21)
At1 January 2020 #2005 1A 13882468 127540435 15427043 1117000 (96525,646) 61,441,400
Shares issued during the year RER E%Hﬂﬁ 10,123,501 30,370,503 - - - 40,494,000
Equity-settled share-based payment ~ IAEREEHRH - - - 284,000 - 284,000
Loss and total comprehensive loss FABERZEBE
for the year k] - - - - (31,106,691  (31,106,691)
At 31 December 2020 and R2020512A318 R
1 January 2021 202151518 24,005,969 157,910,938* 15,427,143* 1,401,000%  (127,632,337)* 71,112,713
Shares issued during the Year TEERETRG 10,562,626 34,376,548 - - - 44,939,174
Share issue expenses P OEET (228,655) - - - (228,655)
Lapse of equity-settled NE=EERNRNA
share-based payment ERMFRER - = = (284,000) 284,000 =
Equity-settled share-based payment NEREENROAT = = = 2,893,000 = 2,893,000
Loss and total comprehensive loss TEEBRRZARBR
for the Year k] - - - - (4,980,239) (4,980,239)
At 31 December 2021 RA2IFI2A31E 34568505 192058831  15427,143* 4010000 (132328576 113,735,993

* These reserve accounts comprise the reserve of HK$79,167,398 (2020: HK$47,106,744) *
in the statement of financial position.

I ERERE BEMBMRRARAZFHHE79,167,398
T (20204 : 47,106,744 78 7T) ©

IR R AR A B E ] B R B A R i

Note: Distributable reserve is a balance of credit derived from capital reduction which may be B 5E - AT @

utilised by the directors of the Company. It gives greater flexibility to the Company to EZERBE  WAARRNARET IR E R 3
declare dividends and/or to undertake any corporate exercise which requires the use of EITEAABRAHSIRERE L CXEFHRERE

REBE -

distributable reserves in the future.
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Statement of Cash Flows
WEMER
For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZ2021F12A318ILFE

2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes HK$ HK$
B 5E BT T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING R EZEFfE2HSRE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax B 1% Al BT 4B (4,980,239) (31,106,691)
Adjustments for: BATIER FE -
Finance costs BB R 7R 116,735 335,425
Dividend income from listed equity  _ 71 48 %5 7 H A% 2 U A
securities 5 (26,400) (587,675)
Interest income from unlisted bond  3E_E &% Fl B U A (908,219) -
Interest income from promissory AEHEENEBA
notes (1,112,521) (924,027)
Bank interest income RITH EHA (849) (394)
Depreciation of right-of-use asset ~ {FFAEEEINE 296,501 171,385
Net realised loss on financial assets at & A F{EBE BIEETIRZ
fair value through profit or loss TRMEEC SR EEFEA 6 38,421,137 33,116,554
Net unrealised gain on financial BRATEERBERIEZ
assets at fair value through profit £ REIEE RS IB IR F5E
or loss 6 (45,602,564) (9,454,733)
Foreign exchange gain, net SN U a5 T EE - (303)
Equity-settled share-based payment  LAME 25 45 & K A% 1) 1+ 7% 2,893,000 284,000
Withholding tax a0 2,640 58,768
(10,900,779) (8,107,691)
Payments for purchase of financial BEZATEEBBERYEZ
asset at fair value through profit or DREE TR
loss (116,428,879) (232,396,461)
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at H&H A F BB BERTIEEZ
fair value through profit or loss TREEMBHIA 85,581,407 208,122,150
Decrease/(increase) in deposits and e RIER FRIE K H i fE YR
prepayments and other receivable TER A, (18 h0) 1,768,293 (2,994,269)
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due FEUAS 42 A FRIE R A (38 h0)
from brokers 259,503 (321,322)
Decrease in amount due to a broker  JEf — & & 48 A FUIER (4,659,540) (4,058,961)
(Decrease)/increase in other payables — E. b i (< 3008 & fE 5+ &
and accruals CRL), /1840 (592,859) 265,187
Decrease in amounts due to a related & < — &1 B 38 A &) FUIE R 2
company - (160,000)
Cash used in operations ZEFMAR S (44,972,854) (39,651,367)
Dividend income received from listed 2 Ut TS B A A% B UL A
equity securities 23,760 528,907
Interest income received B U F B U A 899,698 740,394
Net cash flows used in operating BEEYMARESMEFE
activities (44,049,396) (38,382,066)
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Statement of Cash Flows
HEmER
For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z2021F12A31HILFE
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2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes HK$ HK$
B 5E BT v
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RMETEREBZRSRE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares BT TS FR08 44,939,174 40,494,004
Share issue expenses 3T X (228,655) -
Interest paid 2RFE (116,735) (335,425)
Repayment of principal portion of lease EE2HE&FEH AT LS
liability 14(b) (267,673) (179,379)
Net cash flows from financing RETHFREREREFE
activities 44,326,111 39,979,200
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND RekReEEENFEE
CASH EQUIVALENTS 276,715 1,597,134
Cash and cash equivalents REEVHERRES
at beginning of Year 2,000,472 403,338
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AEERAESRELEE
AT END OF YEAR 2,277,187 2,000,472
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF ReRBeESELEHIT
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
— Cash at banks —R{TIR % 18 2,277,187 2,000,472
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Notes to Financial Statements

B H5 Rk B et

31 December 2021 2021512A31H

2.1

CORPORATION INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands on 1
February 2010 under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands
as an exempted company with limited liability. The Company was
established for the purpose of acting as a closed-ended investment
company.

The Company'’s registered office is at P.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
South Church Street, George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1104,
Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of the Company is at
22/F., CS Tower, 50 Wing Lok Street, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

The principal investment objective of the Company is to achieve
long-term capital appreciation through investing globally in both
private and public enterprises that have demonstrated the ability to
manufacture a product or deliver a service that is supported by the
economies of Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan.

During the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Year”), the
Company’s investment activities are managed by Evergrande
Securities (Hong Kong) Limited (the “Investment Manager”). China
Everbright Securities (HK) Limited ceased to be the investment
manager of the Company from 30 November 2020 and the
Company appointed Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited as
new investment manager of the Company effective on 1 January
2021.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the
disclosure requirements of Appendix 16 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”). They have been prepared on a historical cost
basis, except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
which have been measured at fair values. The financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") except when otherwise
indicated.

2.1

DNEEHR

RArRBERSHERRLNER 201092
AVBERERSHEMKILA —HER
RERETAF - KRATUERHR
TERRIMEL °

AN B RE M 3 F B M HE & P.O. Box 309,
Ugland House, South Church Street,
George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1104,
Cayman Islands ° AR A F BE I A
B8 FERKEHES0RERKE 2218 -

ARBETBREREREBREERA
RENEESRHETE AN - FE B
FIkBEBEAE R ZERIRBZAA
RABEE  REGRHEAREE-

HE2021F12A831HLFE ([AF
Bl ARRNREETHHEKRES (B
B)ERAR ([REEEBADEE -FH
KRFH (BHE)BRARE20205F 11
A30EBTBAAATREEEA  AQ
RAIZAEARFSF (BB)BRATALRRA
ATRIREEEA R2021F1 184
R o

HERHRRDRBEEREHERNERE
g ((BEfesrEREE)) Bih 2B
P R ([EFR MBS ER ) &
BEMARZAMARARES ETRA
(TEMRAID) M 81680 B2 B8 43 7 0 4
H-BERATEEBERIRZERE
ECARFEFEN  EFBRERE
BERKAELFER - BB BIEAN
WEMBHRERABT (BT 251
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 S BERREEZENR

80

DISCLOSURES

In the current year, the Company has applied the following
amendments to IFRSs for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021 for the preparation of the financial statements:

Amendment to IFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —

RAEE » NARE & X ER T EE
BT EEAEBEAN2021F1 518K
2 1% PR B9 T HA R 08 B AR A 9 R BR B
BHRELEANSETAR

B PR B FSRE2RIZE Covid-19 2 1
1658 Z BRI A HeER
BIRR B AS R 2RI R REENE —

39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 Phase 2 ok BUPREFIER]  FEPEER
and IFRS 16 F399% - BRI

The application of the amendments to IFRSs in the current year has
had no material impact on the Company’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures
set out in these financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 ©MEM{E R AE R BIBR B 5
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING R & A
STANDARDS
The Company has not early applied the following new and AArliAREFEAUTEEMERK
amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective: R A R BIR B f mE EA 2 & 5T
N
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related BRI BHmE LR RREORES
Amendments? Mﬂ7%ﬁ CHES
Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual BREIBmEENE U SERMEL?
Framework? 3%21 TR
Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between BIBREA IR RIS PMEEEREBE N
and IAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint 10 KRB E: FEEPE L ALE
Venture? ERAE28H 28 FOEAEE!
ETZIK
Amendment to IFRS 16  Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions B TSEREAERIZE 2021 F6 308 2
beyond 30 June 2021 16%2{9}5% 18 & Covid-19 Z 18
MisER"
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or BERestElE 1% SaEBARENL
Non-current and related amendments to ZIBRI AR FERBRARBESH
Interpretation 5 (2020)? (20209F) Z 48R &
HE
Amendments to IAS Disclosure of Accounting Policies? B S ERE 15 SHBORER?
1 and IFRS Practice KBRS
Statement 2 ZREREERIE?
S ZAEET AR
Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates? Bl et £RFE 8 FaffistEs®’
Zf/ BEN
Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and RO EAE12 BE-XFELEZEER
Liabilities arising from a Single 5);721? HE BERBELEHES
Transaction?
Amendments to IAS 16  Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds R ERIE 16 ME - MERRE-E
before Intended Use? ﬁi221zaTZF BERBRIBAMEG
g2
Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a BB estERE37 BEUAYH-BITAY
Contract? SRR R ) X 7R 2
Amendments to IFRSs  Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018— BRI B R ELERE BRI BEREER
20202 IR 2018 F £2020F 2
FEME?
' Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021. TR0 FA AV B 2B FEBRARR -
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. 2 R2022F1 A1 Bz BB FEBRBAER
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. 3 R2023F1 A1 Bz ERBZ FEARAER
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined. ¢ AT BB AR EEE BB AR -
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82

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

Fair value measurement

The Company measures its equity instruments at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of
a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Company. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
directly or indirectly observable

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the Company
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at
the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than financial
assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit's value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and
is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEME (8)

84

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which it
arises in those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which
it arises, (only if there are revalued assets in the financial statements)
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with
the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases

The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is,

or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract

conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period

of time in exchange for consideration.

Company as a lessee

The Company applies a single recognition and measurement

approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of

low-value assets. The Company recognises lease liabilities to make

lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use

the underlying assets.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Company by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Company as a lessee (Continued)

®)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Company and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Company exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Company uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Company as a lessee (Continued)
(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Company applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office premises (i.e.,
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition
exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to
be low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income (“OCI"), and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Company’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Company has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Company initially measures a financial asset at its
fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Company has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEME (8)

88

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset that is a debt instrument to be classified
and measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Company’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets,
or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost
are held within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets
classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models
and financials assets which are equity instruments are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Company commits
to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Company had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair
value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are also recognised as revenue in the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income when the right of payment
has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Company and the
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEME (8)
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POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Company’s statement of financial position)
when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

o the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Company has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a passthrough arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and
rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred
control of the asset, the Company continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In
that case, the Company also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Company has
retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Company could be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit
or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Company compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEME (8)

92

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

The Company considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the Company
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Company. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs.

Stage 1 —Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Company’s financial liabilities include other payables and
accruals, amounts due to brokers and lease liability.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability
and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously.

Revenue recognition

Dividend income is recognised on the date on which the investments
are quoted ex-dividend or, where no ex-dividend rate is quoted,
when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been
established and it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend can be measured reliably. Dividend income is
presented gross of any non-recoverable withholding taxes, which
are disclosed separately in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from sources other than dividends on equity investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is
described below.

Revenue from other sources

Income from profit guarantee is recognised when the amount is
received or receivable.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods
that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Company’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Company receive remuneration in
the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESTBERBE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued) UG RHERNTRK(E)
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants 720024 11 A7 BIEFTH H B4R B 1T
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value CIARRBEEAR G ZRATI2ERLE
at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined BZAFEE - R FETIRINEHE
by an external valuer at the date when the grant is made using a B BB —HARAE T -

binomial model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee BHEER D 2NN ERER 2 HEA
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity, B R EDRR R AR 4 2 B
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions NEBEMEAZANER - REE B 8aT
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled EMEMERMARTEERSHERZ
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting 2T RMEEWGEHREE
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and MARBHGREEFB 2T AHE
the Company’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments 2 EAEMAE BRI R 2 KRG
that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of A BZARBYRBARE EREFH
profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative S

expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into ETHEEsREBAFELTEERS
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but RIETIH RGN - MR ER R 2 AT
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the BRI E A RREB AR AE
Company’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that mTRABE 2&EMT 221D - M5
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected KEGHEERRERE B 2 2FE M
within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached EHRREFEL MR REER CE
to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are AR R BIERB IR - RERIE
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions EEEEZRBATESETTEER
are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate &SRB A T BN F LA 8 o

expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market EREEEZIEMIBRE KRB IEHE
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no GBS 2 R g R
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non- X WERBE—EmSIIEFRG
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective " ERTSIIERBERUGRTEN -
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided ZERGEUEWRACER  AIREM
that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied. BEMRAR KRB GG D EER -
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either
the Company or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings per share.

Related parties

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the
Company if that person:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Company;
(i) has significant influence over the Company; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Company or of a parent of the Company;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESTBERBE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued) BES (&)
or %
(b) the entity is related to the Company if any of the following (b) AT EMEERER @ BIE TR
conditions applies: ZA/NSIPSRELE
(i)  the entity and the Company are members of the same () ZERBOAARQAGBER—5E
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and BB AR (EERZFZMK
fellow subsidiary is related to the others; ERHOY QNG MBARME
FMBARIMBEERAZE)
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other iy, —EERAS —EREOHE
entity (or of an associate or joint venture of a member of NESHAEERE (KRE—FE
a group of which the other entity is a member); BAMESE /K E AR
EhENEEDRE)
(i the entity and the Company are joint ventures of the (iy ZEBRAAFHRE %
same third party; =AM EERE
(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other vy —EAERBAF=-HEBENE
entity is an associate of the third entity; EhE - MEBE-EBAXLSE
=HEBNEBENGE
(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the (V) REBAX — R ELZR
benefit of employees of either the Company or an entity NCIRSR R EI’] i ?JMEE\ &)
related to the Company; BB RN E B
(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person (vi) ZEBX(@PMHAIALTES
identified in (a); XA RES
(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence (i) R@OFT#EMATHZE 2
over the entity or is a member of the key management EERYE &J*- N AETA
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and ERBSAR)TEEEAEN
Hfi—FpKE

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a (vii) ZEEEs
part, provides key management personnel services to the IDA=WNG] ﬁ $ _J ﬂ$ /NG
Company or to the parent of the Company. SN
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.

Share capital

The Company’s ordinary shares are classified as equity as the
Company has full discretion on repurchasing the shares and on
dividend distributions.

Issuance and acquisition of ordinary shares are accounted for as
equity transactions.

Upon issuance of shares, the consideration received is included in
equity.

Transaction costs incurred by the Company in issuing or acquiring
its own equity instruments are accounted for as a deduction
from equity to the extent that they are incremental costs directly
attributable to the equity transaction that otherwise would have
been avoided.

Own equity instruments which are acquired are deducted from
equity and accounted for at amounts equal to the consideration
paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs.

No gain or loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income on the purchase, sale, issuance or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

Dividend distributions

Dividend distributions are at the discretion of the Company. A
dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is accounted
for as a deduction from retained earnings. An interim dividend is
recognised directly as a liability in the period in which it is irrevocably
declared by the Board of Directors. A final dividend is recognised as
a liability in the period in which it is approved by the annual general
meeting of shareholders.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEME (8)

100

POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and
short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Company’s cash
management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash at banks, including term deposits, and
assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Company operates.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

J when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEME (8)

102

POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Company has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

The Company is exempted from all forms of taxation in Cayman
Islands, including income, capital gains and withholding taxes.
However, in some jurisdictions, investment income and capital
gains are subject to withholding tax deducted at the source of the
income. Withholding tax is a generic term used for the amount of
withholding tax deducted at the source of the income. The Company
presents the withholding tax separately from the gross investment
income in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Functional and presentation currency

The Company’s functional and presentation currency is the Hong
Kong dollar, which is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which it operates. The Company’s performance
is evaluated and its liquidity is managed in Hong Kong dollars.
Therefore, the Hong Kong dollar is considered as the currency that
most faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying
transactions, events and conditions.

Foreign currencies translations

Foreign currency transactions during the Year are translated at the
rates of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting date. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at
the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or
loss arising from translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

Foreign currency transactions gains and losses on financial
instruments classified as at fair value through profit or loss are
included in profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income
as part of the “Net change in fair value of financial assets and
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss”. Foreign exchange
differences on other financial instruments are included in profit
or loss in the statement of comprehensive income as “Foreign
exchange gains/loss, net”.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEME (8)
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POLICIES (Continued)

Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

The Company operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “"MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its
employees. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Company in an independently administered fund. The
Company’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)
Going concern

The Company’s management has made an assessment of the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied
that the Company has the resources to continue in business for
the foreseeable future. Furthermore, management is not aware of
any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the
financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern
basis.

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below. The Company based its assumptions and estimates on
parameters available when the financial statements were prepared.
However, existing circumstances and assumptions about future
developments may change due to market changes or circumstances
arising beyond the control of the Company. These changes are
reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

Taxes

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex
tax regulations and changes in tax laws on foreign withholding
tax. Given the wide range of international investments, differences
arising between the actual investment income and the assumptions
made, or future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate
future adjustments to tax expense already recorded. The Company
establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible
consequences of audits by the tax authorities of the respective
jurisdiction in which it invests. The amounts of these provisions are
based on various factors, such as experience of previous tax audits
and differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity
and the responsible tax authority. Such differences of interpretation
may arise on a wide variety of issues depending on the conditions
prevailing in the respective domicile of investments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimates and assumptions (Continued)
Fair value of financial instruments

When the fair value of financial assets recorded in the statement
of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, their
fair value is determined using a variety of valuation techniques that
include the use of mathematical models. The inputs to these models
are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this
is not feasible, estimation is required in establishing fair values. The
estimates include considerations of liquidity and model inputs such
as the share price of the underlying investment, correlation, volatility
and transactions of shares. Changes in assumptions about these
factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments
in the statement of financial position and the level where the
instruments are disclosed in the fair value hierarchy.

The suspended equity investments, unlisted equity investments,
promissory notes and unlisted bond have been valued based on
a market-based valuation technique as detailed in Note 26 to
the financial statements. The valuation requires the Company to
determine the comparable public companies (peers) and select the
price multiple. In addition, the Company makes estimates about the
discount for illiquidity and size differences. The Company classifies
the fair value of these investments as Level 3.

IFRS 13 requires disclosures relating to fair value measurements
using a three-tier fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of
the inputs used in measuring fair values. The level in the fair value
hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised
in its entirety is determined on the basis of the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. For
this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed against the
fair value measurement in its entirety. If a fair value measurement
uses observable inputs that require significant adjustments based
on unobservable inputs, then that measurement is a Level 3
measurement. Assessing the significance of a particular input to
the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgement,
considering factors specific to the asset or liability. To assess the
significance of a particular input to the entire measurement, the
Company performs a sensitivity analysis.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Company is organised into business
units based on the categories of investments. During the years ended
31 December 2021 and 2020, the Company has two reportable
operating segments as follows:

Listed securities — Investments in equity securities listed on relevant
stock exchange

Unlisted securities — Investments in private equity securities,
promissory notes and unlisted bond

The geographical analysis of Company’s turnover and segment
results by geographical areas for the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020 is not presented as significant transactions of the
Company are mainly based in Hong Kong.

Further details of the Company’s investments are included in Note 6
and Note 16.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REFHER (M)
(Continued)
The following is an analysis of the Company’s results by operating T AIREEDEE DB ARA T EER
segment: EZ o -
Listed Unlisted
securities securities  Unallocated Total
tmEH FLmEH AAE @t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZE2021F 12 A31 AL FE
Segment revenue SEWA 26,400 2,520,740 849 2,547,989
Segment results NEEE 11,551,998 (1,823,431) - 9,728,567
Bank interest income HITFI WA 849
Unallocated expenses iV liah (14,709,655)
Loss before tax bR A0 e 1R (4,980,239)
Listed Unlisted
securities securities Unallocated Total
LES FLmES L Bar
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
For the year ended 31 December 2020 & Z2020F 12 A31 HItEFE
Segment revenue AEUA 587,675 2,544,027 285,394 3,417,096
Segment results DEEE (18,404,062) (2,126,057) - (20,530,119)
Bank interest income B|ITHEHA 394
Government grants B8 285,000
Unallocated expenses AAEHEE (10,861,966)
Loss before tax BRFATE 18
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the operating
segments derived revenue from dividend income, interest income
and income from profit guarantee earned from the investments held
by the segments. Segment results represented the net change in fair
values of listed equity securities, private equity securities, promissory
notes and unlisted bond classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and the corresponding interest income,
dividend income as well as income from profit guarantee earned
by each segment without the allocation of administrative expenses,
finance costs, interest income from bank deposits, government
grants and the Investment Manager’s fees.

As management considers the Company’s nature of business to be
investment trading and there are no major customers, accordingly
no information regarding revenue derived from major customers is
presented.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Company’s assets and liabilities by

4, K&

TEER (&

i

AT RREEDHEIDHARBEER

operating segment: BEMEZT:
Listed Unlisted
securities securities Total
EhEE FEmES Mt
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
As at 31 December 2021 ®2021F 12 A31H
Segment assets: DEEE
Financial assets at fair value BEAFEBEBERIEZ
through profit or loss TRLEE 31,872,545 77,482,083 109,354,628
Unallocated assets AN EE 6,474,372
Total assets BEMBE 115,829,000
Liabilities: =N
Unallocated liabilities KOBAE 2,093,007
Total liabilities BEHBE 2,093,007
Listed Unlisted
securities securities Total
LmES IE ETRE S HEET
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
As at 31 December 2020 7202012 A31H
Segment assets: DEBEE -
Financial assets at fair value EAFEEBERIIERZ
through profit or loss TREE 32,690,419 37,855,000 70,545,419
Unallocated assets AKOBREE 7,065,247
Total assets BELE 77,610,666
Liabilities: afE:
Unallocated liabilities b N =K 6,497,953
Total liabilities BEBE
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION ReEsHES (&
(Continued)
For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating FEIE D ER IR RN D EE AL E IR M
resources between segments, all financial assets at fair value through 5 RBEA ﬁ@iﬁﬂ?é mARZ &'l
profit or loss are allocated to reportable segments. All other assets BEADEZEWmDE - NARIHA
of the Company, including right-of-use asset, deposits, prepayments BEHMEE (’E%@ﬁﬁﬁéﬁ? S -
and other receivables, amounts due from brokers and cash and RIFE & H Ath U GRTE - EURAS 42 A SR
cash equivalents, and all liabilities are not allocated to the operating BEUARRe;REEE) KABERBETE
segments. DERELEDE -
5. REVENUE KA
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADIAT -
2021 2020
2021 % 20204
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Dividend income from listed equity IEEEFRERA
securities 26,400 587,675
Interest income from promissory notes AEHER 2 FEWA 1,112,521 924,027
Interest income from unlisted bond FEMEHMERA 908,219 -
Bank interest income HRITHEHA 849 394
Income from profit guarantee (Note (1)) & FII4R 78 B A (FT5E (i) 500,000 1,620,000
Government grants (Note (ii)) BT 478 B (B3 Gii)) - 285,000
2,547,989 3,417,096
Notes: B 5T
(i) Income from profit guarantee relates to amounts received in respect of a private (i) i MR 3 U e AR 15 48 8 175 758 P 8 9 s A1)

equity investment in Hong Kong under the profit guarantee terms set out in the

relevant agreement.

(ii) Government grants from HKSAR Government Employment Support Scheme
have been received for retaining employees who may otherwise be made
redundant. The related salary expenditure for which government grant intended

TREE GR3E BB AL S A 1R B MR Y 3R

(ii) BUIME B BEITRLE

FHEIREUR B -

FHLM% RATI e AR RV E B © BUTHEBY

BARENERS

X B B BURIE I

RAHEMEER - MEEZSHEE RN
*Eﬁi Werr ke AR -

to compensate has been fully undertaken and recognised as other operating
expenses. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these
grants.
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6. NET CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL

6. BAFEHEBBERIKRZAYF

ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR BEEE)FEE
LOSS
Listed Unlisted
securities securities Total
EiEH ELEHES st
HK$ HK$ HKS$
BT BT BT
For the year ended HZE2021F 12843181
31 December 2021 FE
Net realised loss on financial assets 3% A F(EiB BB 2
at fair value through TREECERER
profit or loss FEE (38,421,137) - (38,421,137)
Net unrealised gain/(loss) on RO EERBIBRIIERZ
financial assets at fair value TREEREBE W
through profit or loss (E#E) #5 49,946,735 (4,344,171) 45,602,564
Total of net realised and unrealised 5t A#B#E 2 B &R KA IR
gain/(loss) included in profit or ezt (E18) f % 4
loss 11,525,598 (4,344,171) 7,181,427
Listed Unlisted
securities securities Total
ETEH FELMES st
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT

For the year ended
31 December 2020 FE

Net realised loss on financial assets &2 A F{E & @IEZ IR 2
TREEDEIRES

at fair value through
profit or loss HEE
Net unrealised gain/(loss) on
financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

SREERE
(Bi18) 538

Total of net realised and unrealised 5+ A382%5 ~ & B3R K K18

loss included in profit or loss B4 5
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(3,528,000)

(33,116,554)
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NET CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL 6.
ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS (Continued)

The listed shares and unlisted investments are all classified as

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Realised loss on disposals of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss amounted to HK$38,421,137 (2020: realised loss of
HK$33,116,554), representing the difference between the financial
assets’ initial carrying amount upon initial recognition (usually their
costs) and disposal consideration amount. Unrealised gain amounted
to HK$45,602,564 (2020: unrealised gain of HK$9,454,733)
comprises change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss for the Year and the effects arising from reversal of
the prior years’ unrealised gains and losses for financial instruments
which were realised in the reporting period.

LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Company’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging:

BRAFEBEBERIIMR 2 AT
EREFHE A

EWBDEIEETREADBR/ERF
EEBRRIIRZEREE -

HERATFEBBIERIEZEMEE
B E 5 28 B9 18 /538,421,137 7% 7t (2020
F B #IAEIE33,116,5548 L) A
ZeREERVIBERSNVIRERE
(REARA) BEERESTEZHANE
BH o R U S 5 45,602,564 78 7T (2020
RN 9,454,73378 L) BE
REERAFEFBERIEZCME
ENAFEZHUARRFEHEEER
BEFESRITARSR WG MEER
BIEAMTE -

BB A 5 18

RRRZEBATEREHRIA T SRR
L

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$ HK$
BT BT
(@)  Finance costs (@) HIFEKA
Interest on other borrowings HEMEEF S 85,883 331,324
Interest on lease liability HEBERE 30,852 4,101
116,735 335,425
(b)  Included in other operating (b) MATHBBEFFAHMEE
expenses: X :
Staff cost (excluding directors’ BETIWA(TRIEES
remuneration and share-based B & f% 4 50
payment) 3,232,366 3,132,616
Investment management fee (Note 11) HEEERE (ME11) 600,000 550,000
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss, net HNE (Wzm),/B518 - F
H (3,346) 24,094
Auditors’ remuneration 2% EXAM B 5 550,000 500,000
Lease payments not included in the STEHEAERIRE
measurement of lease liability AWM ER R 53,704 17,204
Consultancy fee R B 700,000 -
Legal and professional fees FELEEALEAR 1,312,750 18 SSITRR
Commission and other charges HekHEMmER 405,069 319,574
Depreciation of right-of-use asset TREEAENE 296,501 171,385
Equity-settled share-based payment LA 2 45 B R IR 9 157 5K 2,893,000 284,000
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8. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 8. EEM=
Directors’ remuneration for the Year, disclosed pursuant to the RiE MR A FE R FHEHZE 383(1)
Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong @ O -OkOHEE A (HEEESF
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of HERDBROE 2B TFUBRBRE s ANFEE
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows: =MemT -
2021 2020
20214 20204
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Fees e 1,356,000 1,304,650
Bonus 4T F - _
Contributions to pension schemes MRS 5B K - -
1,356,000 1,304,650
The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 December HE221F1N2A3MBIEFEZSEEN
2021 is as follows: MemT :
Contributions
to pension
Name of Directors Fees Bonus schemes Total
Bk
E=fg we PR HE L3 st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Gu Xu BELE 360,000 - - 360,000
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee BREELAE 528,000 - - 528,000
888,000 - . 888,000
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Wang Dingben FTAEE - - - -
Mr. Chow Yeung Tuen Richard BHAEE 117,000 - - 117,000
117,000 - - 117,000
Independent non-executive BIFHTES
directors
Mr. Chong Ching Hoi HEslkE 117,000 - - 117,000
Mr. Leung Wai Lim RUWRESE 117,000 - - 117,000
Mr. Sun Boguan Blezis 117,000 - - 117,000
351,000 - - 351,000
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

8.

The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 December

2020 is as follows:

EEME (&)

HE2020F 12 A3 BIFEREEN
BT

Contributions

to pension
Name of Directors Fees Bonus schemes Total
RKE
EEpnE we AR SHEIfH #Et
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Gu Xu BB HE 360,000 - - 360,000
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee MEETE 528,000 - - 528,000
888,000 - 888,000
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Wang Dingben FTAREAE
(Appointed on 9 June 2020) (FA2020F 6 RO REZET) - = - -
Mr. Chow Yeung Tuen Richard ~ #F#535L 4
(Appointed on 9 June 2020) (PA202056 A9REZ ) 65,650 - - 65,650
65,650 - - 65,650
Independent non-executive BN FEHTES
directors
Mr. Chong Ching Hoi sl A 117,000 - - 117,000
Mr. Leung Wai Lim ZUMERRE A 117,000 - - 117,000
Mr. Sun Boquan #ZRAztE 117,000 - - 117,000
351,000 - - 351,000

Fees paid to or for the executive directors are generally emoluments

in respect of those persons’ other services in connection with the

management of the affairs of the Company. The non-executive and

independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above

were mainly for other services as directors of the Company.

AMTEEINNER - RBEZFA
TEEARREHH R E A IR & B
T o EXFIRIFMITE SR RBILIFMIT
EFNHEETESRBREER/ARAE
S MEREAEAM IR o
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EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (EXCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION)

9. EERANFEX (FTREEEMH

%)

2021 2020

2021 % 20204

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Salaries, wages and benefit in kind e LEAREWRER 2,992,732 2,899,732

Bonus fE4L 150,061 150,061
Retirement benefit expenses RRAE FIFA 2

— Defined contribution plan —ERRHRET & 89,573 82,823

Equity-settled share-based payment VAR 45 B MR D 1 3K 2,893,000 284,000

6,125,366 3,416,616

The Company operates a defined contribution scheme in Hong
Kong which complies with the requirements under the Mandatory
Provident Fund (“MPF") Schemes Ordinance. Contributions to the
MPF scheme follow the MPF Schemes Ordinance.

Under the MPF scheme, each of the Company (the employer) and its
Hong Kong employees makes monthly contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, as defined in the MPF
Schemes Ordinance. Both the Company and its employees’ monthly
contributions are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 and contributions
beyond these amounts are voluntary. The contributions are fully and
immediately vested upon payment.

As at 31 December 2021, there were no forfeited contributions
(2020: Nil).

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2021

ARFREBHEAES (8BTS ))3t

EERPINRE - ERERB ERERE
&l - A S AT B H IR IR R TE 7T B
BIAAT ©

BIERESEE  AQF (ExX) RES
BREESBETAKREESRBWA (EX
RS FTEMEN) 5% ML T &I 1E L4
Ko ARRRIREEES AMFREA1,500%
TREE LR BHBEESEN A
BEEMY -HRANSEHEBNES -

MR20214912 A31 8 @ BEET I
(20204 : 4#) -



Notes to Financial Statements

B H5 Rk B et

31 December 2021 2021512A31H

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. AEESHFMES
During the Year, no Director (2020: two Directors) was included in AEERARSFWEE L TEIETM
the five highest paid employees, details of whose remunerations are EE (20205 - MEBEE) - HENFHM
set out in Note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the Year of FFIEEN EXMIFES c WIEARRREEK
five (2020: three) highest paid employees who are neither a director FETHABWMRA (20205 : =&) &
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows: aEHMEENAFESMEABLOT
2021 2020
2021 % 20204
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind & - 2BE R EWEF 2,379,124 2,306,124
Bonus TEAL 108,927 108,927
Retirement benefit expenses RIREFIRL
— Defined contribution plan — EFEMEKEE 57,950 52,200
Equity-settled share-based payment Az B RT3 2,893,000 -
5,439,001 2,467,251
The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid FEENITETHRABRSFHHES
employees whose remuneration fall within the following bands is as B EEA THEI AT
follows:

Number of individuals

AE

2021 2020

2021 2020 4F

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 7 7T, 3 2
HK$1,000,001 — HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 7 L&

1,500,000 7 7T, 1 1
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 BT E

2,000,0007% 7T 1 -

5 3
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11. FEES 1. EH
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Administration fee

Amicorp Fund Services Asia Limited (the “Administrator”) is entitled
to receive an administration fee which is calculated based on the
net asset value of the Company at valuation day equal to the rate of
0.11% per annum.

The administration fee is subject to a monthly minimum fee of
USD4,000 plus 7% disbursement charge (2020: USD4,000 plus 7%
disbursement charge) and is payable monthly in arrears.

The administration fee for the Year is HK$399,264 (2020:
HK$398,329). As at 31 December 2021, an administration fee of
HK$66,742 (2020: HK$66,359) was payable to the Administrator.

Custodian fee

Bank of Communications Trustee Limited (the “Custodian”) is
entitled to a custodian fee which is calculated based on the net asset
value of the Company at valuation day equal to the rate of 0.04%
per annum. The custodian fee is subject to a monthly minimum fee
of HK$12,500 and is payable monthly in arrears.

The custodian fee for the Year is HK$150,469 (2020: HK$150,866).
As at 31 December 2021, a custodian fee of HK$25,000 (2020:
HK$25,000) was payable to the Custodian.

Management fee

The Company had terminated the investment management
agreement with China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited (the
“China Everbright Agreement”) effective on 30 November 2020
and entered into a new investment management agreement
with Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited (the “Investment
Manager”) effective on 1 January 2021.

The Investment Manager is entitled to a monthly management fee of
HK$50,000 and payable monthly in advance.
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BIC) B TFREEA -

EEE

ARAFIF2020611 A30B B & 1F A
BN ARFESR (BB ARQAANKEERE
ok ([P EXKHE]) - W 8EKESH
(BB)BRAR(REERADI R
BEEEWE  R2021F1 71 BREERK -

BETEAGREEE A EEE50,000
BITRERE ARASAT -



Notes to Financial Statements

B H5 Rk B et

31 December 2021 2021512A31H

11.

12.

FEES (Continued)

Management fee (Continued)

Prior to the termination of the China Everbright Agreement,
China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited was entitled to a monthly
management fee of HK$50,000 and payable monthly in advance.

The management fee for the Year is HK$600,000 (2020:
HK$550,000). As at 31 December 2021, the management fee of
HK$50,000 (2020: Nil) was payable to the Investment Manager.

TAXATION

The major components of income tax charge for the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020 are:

11.

12.

g2H (&)
EEE ()

PR E R B R LR - PR KBS
(BB ARAREHUNGAETES
50,0008 0 KBRS ARAI S AT -

KREFEIEE /600,000 7T (2020 F :
550,000 7t) ° 42021412 A31H »
R FIREER ARNEEEAS50,000%
gL (2020%F « &) o

Bi1R

HZE2021F K2020F 12 A1 BILEE
FEHEAXTELS DA :

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$ HK$
BT BIT

Current tax: BERT 1A -
Hong Kong Profits tax HEEFEH

Deferred tax EIER IE

Tax charge for the year FEHIERX

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before tax using
the statutory rate to the tax expense at the effective tax rate is as

ERAER R ZBRB AT B PTE A 2 K
HRX SR BERREGFE AR Y

follows: BEN T ¢

2021 2020

202145 20204

HK$ HK$

BT BT
Loss before tax FR AT E 18 (4,980,239) (31,106,691)
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% BETEME16.5% T ERMTHIA (821,739) (5,132,604)
Income not subject to tax BB 2 WA (7,911,866) (1,886,903)
Expenses not deductible for tax LIk b3 594,465 228,661
Tax losses not recognised AERTIBEIE 8,139,140 6,790,846

Tax charge at the effective rate of 16.5% IR E R K 16.5% st E T 1E

Bt
Xt

FEFTAEREAR AR/ FIR 2021
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12. TAXATION (Continued) 12. B\ (&)

120

Cayman Islands

Under the current Cayman Islands law, there is no income tax,
corporation tax, capital gains tax or any other kinds of tax on
profits or gains or tax in the nature of estate duty or inheritance tax
currently in effect.

Effective from the date of incorporation of the Company, and for
a period of twenty years, no law that is hereafter enacted in the
Cayman Islands imposing any tax on income will be levied on the
Company.

Hong Kong

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The
Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which
introduce the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed
into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million
of profits of the Company will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the
financial statements as the Company did not generate any assessable
profit for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

At the end of reporting period, the Company has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$588,000,000 (2020: approximately
HK$539,000,000) available for offset against future profits that
may be carried forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams.
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13.

14.

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of basic per share amount is based on the Company’s
loss of HK$4,980,239 (2020: loss of HK$31,106,691) for the Year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the Year
of 760,466,052 (2020: 569,152,899 (restated) ordinary shares).
The weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue have been
adjusted to reflect retrospectively the impact of bonus element of the
right issue completed on 25 February 2022.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share for the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 in arriving at diluted loss
per share as the outstanding share options of the Company had anti-
dilutive effect for the years.

LEASES

The Company as a lessee

The Company has a lease contract for office premises used in its
operations. Lease of office premises has lease term of 3 years.
Generally, the Company is restricted from assigning and subleasing
the leased assets outside the Company. The lease contract includes
extension or termination options which are not considered to be
exercisable by the Company.

13.

14.

AAREBEESRAARGE
BER

EREASHEARABERIERZE A
JEAE AR F B AR A E 154,980,239 7T
(2020 : [E53831,106,691 8 7T) B ARG
[EE 1T & BRI 5 81760,466,052
% (20204F : 569,152,899 & & i B (4%
BI))FEBE - BRI LR MNETF
BYE THBELGEP RN 2022F2 A
25 AR RARTEAT S D RIS 28 ©

AR EI = 2021 F %2020 12 A31H1E
FEARNBBRITEIINEREAREE
ER - MRt EBREE BB Z
MEFENGRERBEEDAE -

HE

RAFMEREBAA

AREEBERERANMRAMETH
HESH -MAMFEHENHEHYR=F -
—RME  ANRARTARARBAINA
TEEIOHEHEHESE BEAWHEA
FEHRSK AR (IR IBHE - A BEFENR
BT RARBITE
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14. LEASES (Continued) 14. HE (&)
(a) Right-of-use asset (a) FRAEEE

The carrying amounts of the Company’s right-of-use asset and RArEREEEREERFANE
the movements during the Year are as follows: AT

Office premises

2021 2020

20214 20204

HKS$ HK$

BT BT

As at 1 January PN1A1H 71,411 242,796
Additions NE 1,115,126 -
Depreciation charge eERX (296,501) (171,385)
As at 31 December W12 A318 890,036 71,411

(b) Lease liability

The carrying amounts of lease liability and the movements

(b) HE&RME

WA E NS R SR E R

during the Year are as follows: FORNE
2021 2020
2021 % 20204
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Carrying amount at 1 January W1 A1 BEREE 77,107 256,486
New leases FHEE 1,115,126 -
Payments (NE (267,673) (179,379)
Carrying amount at 31 December 12 A31 BMEEAEE 924,560 77,107

Analysed into: R

Current portion MBNER 387,578 77,107
Non-current portion FEMRENEB D 536,982 -
924,560 77,107
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14. LEASES (Continued)

() The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases
are as follow:

14. FHE (&)

(0 NESEIFRBENSENT

2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Interest on lease liability HEAENE 30,852 4,101
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FRAREENERX
asset 296,501 171,385
Lease payments not included in the Kt A\HEBEFENHE
measurements of lease liability INE:S 53,704 17,204
Total amount recognised in RIBEERM BT
profit or loss 381,057 192,690

15. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES AND AMOUNTS DUE FROM
BROKERS

15. B& - AN RIE R HE MUK
TR R W AR RZ ARIE

2021 2020
20214 20204
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Non-current: IERE
Deposits ok 126,740 72,205
Current: TEE -
Prepayments and other receivables TENT /I8 I H b fE Y 5k I8
(Note) (B 5E) 2,939,686 4,420,933
Amounts due from brokers JEULAE 42 A FRIB 240,723 500,226
3,180,409 4,921,159

Note: As at 31 December 2021, the prepayments and other receivables mainly
comprised the payment in advance for consultancy services amounting to
HK$1,300,000.

As at 31 December 2020, the prepayments and other receivables mainly
comprised redemption receivable of a private equity fund amounted to
HK$2,774,822, namely Quasar Global Selection SPC Fund — Shenzhen Qianhai
Glory Fund SP and HK$ 1,159,200 initial public offering subscription receivable.

As at the end of the reporting period, none of the above receivables
is either past due or impaired.

B - 72021F 12 A31 8 » FEAT 5RI8 & H b fE UL
FIEE 2 EEHEM RS TERFKIE 1,300,000
BT e

R 2020912 318 » B FIE K& H i fE Uk
HEBEFERELEREES (BARREE
BUHARRES - FIRERERERES
BUEE) BRI EWRIE2,774822 B L R E
KRR ERERIGRIE,159,200 8 7T °

REREHIR - i U SRIA N 5 6 B sk
A
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16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 16. B A FEFEBRIERFIEZ2SH

124

PROFIT OR LOSS

BE

2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Listed equity securities ITTEEESF
- Hong Kong —B%5 27,141,692 25,761,027
Listed equity security FHERE S
- Australia —EM 3,370,853 3,131,048
Suspended listed equity securities TIEEE FmEmE
- Hong Kong —&BE 1,360,000 3,798,344
Investments in private equities 1 E AL AR
— British Virgin Islands —RBRAHE 18,682,000 14,068,000
Investments in private equities WERTLERHE
—Hong Kong —&HB 20,430,000 6,787,000
Investments in promissory notes B A RIE 23,381,302 17,000,000
Investments in unlisted bond KERIE EHES 14,988,781 -
109,354,628 70,545,419
The fair values of the listed equity securities, except for suspended REEFEEE ITE=ESIN - LTk
listed equity securities, are determined based on the quoted market mEARNTEDBRBEEZESZ IR
bid prices available on the relevant stock exchanges at the end of the WMEMARARENTIZREETE

reporting period.

The fair values of the suspended listed equity securities as at 31
December 2021 and 2020 were determined by the board of
directors based on the valuation reports of the valuations performed
by independent qualified professional valuer. During the year
ended 31 December 2021, an unrealised gain in respect of fair
value changes of suspended listed equity securities amounting to
HK$920,000 (2020: loss of HK$2,619,473) was recognised in profit
or loss, which was determined based on the valuer’s opinion about
the fair values of these securities as at 31 December 2021.

The Company invested in private equities which are not quoted in an
active market. The fair values of the private equities at 31 December
2021 and 2020 have been arrived at on the basis of valuations
carried out as at that date by independent qualified professional
valuer not connected with the Company. The valuation of the
investments in these private entities used valuation techniques,
including discounted cash flow projections and adjusted net assets
value methods, and are within level 3 of fair value hierarchy. The
most significant unobservable inputs in the valuation methodologies
included the discount rate on the investment and forecasted future
cash flows.
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16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2021, three promissory notes (2020: three)
and one unlisted bond (2020: Nil) with total principal amount of
HK$38,500,000 (2020: HK$17,000,000) were outstanding.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, a promissory note with
a principal amount of HK$11,500,000, which carries interest
of 8% per annum and will mature in February 2022 (2020: a
promissory note with a principal amount of HK$15,000,000, which
carries interest of 8% per annum and mature in May 2021). The
promissory note was issued by Gransing Finance Limited, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Gransing Financial Group Limited, a private
equity investee of the Company. The promissory note is covered
by personal guarantee provided by Mr. Kwok Shun Tim, the major
shareholder of Gransing Financial Group Limited. Except for the
above, principal amount of HK$12,000,000 promissory notes were
unsecured, which carries interest rate at 8% per annum and will
mature in June 2022.

The fair value of the promissory notes and unlisted bond at 31
December 2021 have been arrived at on the basis of valuation
carried out as at that date by the independent qualified professional
valuer. During the year ended 31 December 2021, an unrealised
loss in respect of fair value changes of promissory notes and unlisted
bond amounting to HK$129,917 was recognised in profit or loss,
which was determined based on the valuation of the investments
in promissory notes and unlisted bond which used discounted cash
flow projections valuation technique and are within level 3 of fair
value hierarchy. The most significant unobservable inputs are the
discount rate on the investments.

The fair value of the promissory notes at 31 December 2020 have
been arrived at on the basis of valuation carried out as at that date by
the management of the Company. The valuation of the investments
in promissory notes used discounted cash flow projections and
are within level 3 of fair value hierarchy. The most significant
unobservable inputs are the discount rate on the investment and
forecasted future cash flows.

Net unrealised gain on financial asset at fair value through profit
or loss of HK$45,602,564 (2020: gain of HK$9,454,733) has been
recognised in profit or loss.

The Company does not own or control more than 20% of the voting
rights in any one of these listed and unlisted equity investments. In
the opinion of the Directors, the Company is not able to exercise
any significant influence on the financial and operating policies of
these investee companies, and all of these listed and unlisted equity
investments are not regarded as associates of the Company and are
accounted for as financial assets through profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

[\

16. gﬁiﬁﬁiﬁﬁéﬁu,ﬁz&ﬁm

E (&)
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M&IEETRRAEIR B BB 20% K IREE °
BERA ARAREHZEWEEA
AWM ML BERRBEETAEATE
1 AR EE2021FE12 A31 B IEE
€ 28%E M AIELTRERER
BNy~ NG ) A TNCTRIN N 22 ]
EEBERIEZERMEE °
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD 17. AR RAEE 2T ERE 2 H15
BY THE COMPANY

Particulars of investments held by the Company as at 31 December B2021F 128318 ARRIBRE L™
2021 disclosed pursuant to the Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are as RAENEFREEMBERENGTEN
follows: N

Net asset/ Dividend
(liability) received/

Proportion of attributable receivable % of gross
investees Market to the during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost value Company the Year  the Company
EARAER REEE
‘ EEfRE \ . EE/ER) Bh/  4A2T
FrREARER SBME ARERLA B mE BE EYRE SEEEAL
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
T T T
Financial assets at fair valie
though profitorloss
FATEFBERIR. 2BEE
Listed equity securities - Hong Kong
IhEREs-5E
Kingland Group Holdings Limited Note a 5.36% 10,910 9,729 HK$2.07 million - 840
SBEEERARLA fiita 2070000
InyesTech Holdings Limited Note b 253% 5,177 3812 RMB8.80 million - 329
BAERERAR fith A8,800,0007T
Beaver Group (Holding) Company Limited  Note ¢ 9.86% 5,668 3,460 HK$7.75 million - 299
KR (BR)BRAA it 7,750,000 %70
Listed equity security - Australia
LrEREs- AN
Crater Gold Mining Limited Note d 2.85% 2,609 3371 AUD (0.44) million - 291
Crater Gold Mining Limited Fistd (40,0002
Private equity security -
British Virgin Islands
RERBRS-ARELRE
Gransing Financial Group Limited Provision of quality brokerage, 18.08% 46,3771 18300 HKS$26.77 million - 15.80
corporate finance, asset
management and financial
adviser services to institutional
and individual investors in Hong
Kong and Mainland China
through its subsidliaries
AReRERARLA REBRPERERENEL 26,770,000 ¢

ARERERLAREERIE
fHg 0xpe 2EEE
RABERRERH

126 China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2021



Notes to Financial Statements

B H5 Rk B et

31 December 2021 2021512A31H

17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD 17. AR RAEE 2T ERE 2 H15

BY THE COMPANY (Continued) (#&)
Net asset/ Dividend
(liability) received/
Proportion of attributable receivable % of gross
investee's Market to the during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost value Company the Year  the Company
‘ RAEE HAEE
ERfRE ) EE/(88) B/ HART
FRENAER FHME ARERLA 28 Wl BE kS SEEEAL
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
T ThL ThT
Financial assets at fair valte
through proft or foss (Continued) )
EATEFBEZE BEE (B)
Private equity securities - Hong Kong
nERRES-E4
iPro Financial Press Limited Engaged in financal printing 19.90% 15,000 15,489 HK$2.41 million - 1337
- senvices in Hong Kong o
ESREERARAA REBUFHE EHF‘JW 2410000870
Help U Credit Finance Limited Engaged in money lending 19.95% 19,000 4868 HK$13.30 milion - 420
. business in Hong Kong .
EASBARAA RERUZRERE 133000007
Interest
received/ % of gross
Market Yield per Maturity ~ accrued during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business Cost value annum date the Year  the Company
REEE  fRDH
‘ . BM/  gEE
FRENTER ABME 28 mE  FREE 348 AR Aol
HK$000 HK$000 % HK$'000
TERL TARL TEn
Financial assets at fair valte
through profit or loss (Continued)
FATEFERHAE 2REE (8
Promlssory Note - Hong Kong
RARB-FE
Gransing Finance Limited Engaged in money lending 11,500 11,499 8 8February 2022 365 993
) business in Hon Kong
AREERRAR REARERE A0%F2A88
iPro Financial Press Limited Engaged in financial printing 9,000 8371 8 21 June 2022 20 7.66
 services in Hong Kong
ESRRaORERAA RERUEHEERIRS W002%6A218
Unlisted Bond - Cayman Islands
FLHRE-REHE
Oriental Payment Group Holdings Limited ~ Engaged in merchant acquiring 15,000 14,989 10 24 May 2022 908 12.94
business
RPXNEERRERAA KEBPRERH 002558148
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD 17. AR RAEE 2T ERE 2 H15

BY THE COMPANY (Continued) (#&)
Particulars of investments held by the Company as at 31 December M2020F 12 A31H - ARAFEREET
2020 disclosed pursuant to the Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are as BRAENEREEMBERENTEN
follows: T
Net asset/ Dividend
(liability) received/
Proportion of attributable receivable % of gross
investee's Market to the during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost value Company the year  the Company
ARAkE REEE
RHRE gE/(BR) Bt/ HRRE
FRENTER FHME ARERLA B Wl B EYkE SEEEAMM
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
T TiEL ThT
Financial assets at fair valle through
profit or loss
EATEFBRZIF EBEE
Listed equity securities - Hong Kong
Ihgags-58
CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited Engaged in the trading of 321% 4,083 4,388 HK$0.49 million - 5.65
millwork, fumiture and facade
fabrication
FESEERARLA %ﬁ%%ﬁ%?ﬁ% FERERR 490,000t
&
InvesTech Holdings Limited Engaged in the provision of 2.93% 6,990 3780 RMB15.59 milion - 487
network system integration
AARRERAT fERUBRZGRA AR 15,590,000
China Mobile Limited Engaged in telecommunication - 4678 3536 RMBA.49 million 260 456
and related businesses.
hREHERLA KEEERARER ARH4,490,0007T
Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited ~ Engaged in the provision of 5.98% 4,369 2,863 HKS$7.27 millon - 369
financial trading software
solutions
EReRRERRARAT RERESRRAANBRTR 72700007
Town Health International Medical Group ~ Engaged in the provision of 0.39% 41,83 2,795 HK$14.74 million - 360
Limited (Suspended as at 31 December healthcare and dental services,
2020) managed care business and
beauty and cosmetic medicine
business
REIRBEERARAT (R00F 12 NHSRESERTHRY 28 1474000037
R31BEREE) EEREEXREH
SEM Holdings Limited Engaged in the provision of 1.68% 3573 2,126 MOP4.20 million - 351
electrical and mechanical
engineering works
BERRERLR REREREIE RFI%4,200,0007T
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD

17. ARFRBZETEREZFHE

BY THE COMPANY (Continued) (#&)
Net asset/ Dividend
(liability) received/
Proportion of attributable receivable % of gross
investee's Market to the during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost value Company the year  the Company
ARAkE REEE
RHRE BE/(B8) B/ HART
FRENAER FHME ARERLA R Wl BE kS SEEEAL
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
T TiEL ThT
Financial assets at fair valle through
profit or loss (Continued)
EATEFBEZE L BEE (B)
Listed equity security - Australia
Lmgads -2
Crater Gold Mining Limited Engaged in producing gold and 2.85% 2,669 3131 AUD(0.15) million - 403
developing gold and base metal
projects in Papua New Guinea
and Australia
Crater Gold Mining Limited REATHENTREMIEE (150,000 27
SEERRENRELLER
B
Private equity security -
British Virgin Islands
AERERS-ABELHE
Gransing Financial Group Limited Provision of quality brokerage, 15.53% 42,799 14,068 HK$19.79 million - 18.13
corporate finance, asset
management and financial
adviser services to institutional
and individual investors in Hong
Kong and Mainland China
through its subsidiaries
AReRERARAA REBRPERERENEL 19,790,000/ ¢
(FIEEKEREERRAR) ANBERLAREERLER
g (PRRE HEER
ROBERREES
Private equity security - Hong Kong
nERRRS-F4
Help U Credit Finance Limited Engaged in money lending 19.95% 19,000 6,390 HK$14.00 milion - 823
business in Hong Kong
EASBBRAT RERUSEERH 14,000,000 70
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD
BY THE COMPANY (Continued)

130

Interest
received/ % of gross
Market Yield per Maturity  accrued during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business Cost value annum date the Year  the Company
WREE (KA
\ ” ‘ B/ #aE
FREADEH RHHE 228 i Flhi® HER LR [l
HK$'000 HK$'000 % HK$'000
Tt Tk Tk
Financial assets at fair value through
pmf/for/o;s((om/hueo? -
ZATEFBRENF L EREE(E)
Promissory Note - Hong Kong
RARE-FE
Gransing Finance Limited Engaged in money lending 15,000 8 12May 2021 766 19.33
‘ business in Hong Kong
AREERRAR RERUSRERH 01558128
(FIBSEHEERRAR)
Notes: Bt 3

(€)

Kingland Group Holdings Limited (“Kingland”), formerly Sing On Holdings
Limited, was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong (stock code: 1751). Kingland
is an investment holding company mainly as a subcontractor provides concrete
demolition service in Hong Kong and Macau.

For the six months ended 30 June 2021, the unaudited loss attributable to
shareholders of Kingland was approximately HK$20 million and its unaudited
net assets attributable to shareholders of Kingland was approximately HK$40
million.

InvesTech Holdings Limited (“InvesTech”) was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong (stock code: 1087). Investech is a China-based company mainly provides
network system integration solutions and sales of softwares.

For the six months ended 30 June 2021, the unaudited loss attributable to
shareholders of InvesTech was approximately RMB10 million and its unaudited
net assets attributable to shareholders of InvesTech was approximately RMB348
million.

Beaver Group (Holding) Company Limited (“Beaver”) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the GEM board of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong (stock code: 8275). Beaver is a foundation contractor primarily
engaged in subcontracted bored piling works as well as other foundation works.

For the six months ended 30 September 2021, the unaudited loss attributable to
shareholders of Beaver was approximately HK$11 million and its unaudited net
assets attributable to shareholders of Beaver was approximately HK$79 million.

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2021
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SEEBEZERARAT (KB - 515 BK
ZEBRBERAR) HRFESESEMARL
HEM R E BB P ER LT (B AR5
1751) * REER—FRIERRAT  TRIER
2 EEREE JRPIRFUR R L IFEH R -

HZE2021F6 A30HIEAEA - SHRERE
15 R A BAZE 1B 49/420,000,0008 70+ =8
IR SR P& A5 R 48 B A% & & JFE £9 73 40,000,000
FETT °

BEZERER AR (TEE)) RS S
FRAL - HRRD BB X AT ER £ (RHA
5% 1087) c AR —RKHPBEAA] - F2RM
BEERBERIATRREEEF -

HZE2021F6A30H LA Bk E
FE(R R EBAZEE L AR 10,000,000 7T
AR EEEAREEREEFENOARE
348,000,000 7T ©

KEEE (BR)BERAT(XH ) NHER
BEMMARL - RO E BB M GEM £
(BBAR 5% - 8275) ~ KB R E BN FHEILE
T2 E o & TR A3 A GE R -
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IR EAZEE L 411,000,000 7T © k8
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17.

18.

19.

20.

PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD  17. XA RFEZETEREZFHE
BY THE COMPANY (Continued) (%&)
(d) Crater Gold Mining Limited (“Crater Gold Mining”) was incorporated in Australia (d) Crater Gold Mining Limited ([ Crater Gold
and its shares are listed on Australian Securities Exchange (stock code: CGN). Mining ) PRI EE A L - H AR (7 BRI FE
Crater Gold Mining is principally engaged in producing gold and developing gold HR P L (RIAM5E - CGN) © Crater Gold
and base metal projects in Papua New Guinea and Australia. Mining = ZREM B LN RN EE
CHEERRABRNURERSEER -
For the six months ended 31 December 2021, the unaudited loss attributable HZE2021F 128318 1L~ E A -+ Crater
to shareholders of Crater Gold Mining was approximately AUD1 million and the Gold MininglR RIEE REBEZE RO B
unaudited net liabilities attributable to shareholders of Crater Gold Mining was 1,000,000% 7T + Crater Gold Mining % & J&
approximately AUD15 million. G REEFEIZ B EFE L/ 15,000,000 T
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 18. RERAEEE
2021 2020
2021 % 20204
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Cash at banks RITRE 2,277,187 2,000,472
2,277,187 2,000,472
Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank RITREDUERSRARITERAEZ
deposit rates. The cash at banks are placed with DBS Bank (Hong FEFIREIRAE - RITIMESEFAR
Kong) Limited and Public Bank (Hong Kong) Limited. RRIT (BB BERAFARARBIT (B
BE)BRRAT] -
OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 19. Htb B RERETER
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the other payables and accruals 720214 %2020 12 A31H - EfbfE
were non-interest-bearing and had an average term of less than NRIBREAERADTHAERFEHF
three months. HAOR=MEH -
AMOUNT DUE TO A BROKER 20. B —BELARE

As at 31 December 2021, no amount due to brokers (2020:
HK$4,659,540 of margin payable to a broker with interest rates
approximately 2.6% per annum) .The Company had pledged Hong
Kong listed securities of approximately HK$11 million to secure the
margin payables to the broker as at 31 December 2020.

P20214 12 A31 H W ENEL A
(2020 F : FETAS 42 IR 75 & 4,659,540 %8
T HREBFECFNERELN26E) - R
202012 A31 B - ARBEEAES L
T 5% 49 11,000,000 7 7T LA #& (R FE 5%
IR 2 IREBES -
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21. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 21. BRAERTE
The Company’s Share Option Scheme was adopted on 1 June 2015, BIER 20159 5 528 HE 1T 2 IR
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the extraordinary ABLEBAZERREER  ARRER
general meeting held on 28 May 2015. REFTEIN 2015496 B 1 HERY -
The limit of the number of securities which may be issued upon RIEE R A 8 M AT ] H b BB AR A =1 2
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised BREBEERFTECHRITEBEREES
under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes must not TR EETETZCESFREBRE T
exceed 30% of the relevant class of securities of the Company in BRBBARNR TR EITHEBERNES
issue from time to time. 230% °
Details of the share options granted by the Company under the KA RNFERBEERETEIRAQF
Share Option Scheme to the employees of the Company and the BERLZBRERAFEREZZS
movement in such holdings during the Year were as follows: FEIBAT -
Number of share options
BREHR
Outstanding Cancelled/  Outstanding
Name or asat Granted Exercised lapsed asat
category of  Date of Exercise Exercise 1 January during during during 31 December % of
participant  grant period price 2021 the Year the Year the Year 2021 issued share
R2021% Ra021 £
BEAER 1A18 AEE 12A318  BEAKH
HEH REA®  7ES e MATE  AEERE  KEEGE  HE/&X HRTE At
Employees 19/7/2019 197712019~ 0.2985* 7421 446* - - - 7421446 0.86
181712029
E& 219F 20197 19A
7R198 £2029%7R188
Employees 171172020 171112020~ 0.2432* 3,710,723* - - (3,710,723) - -
16/1/2021
& 2008 2000514178
1R17E E201E17168
Employees 24512021 24/512021- 0.2300 - 7,201,790 - - 7,201,790 0.83
23/512024
] 201 F 2001558248
SAUBE E0UE5ABH
Employees 30/8/2021 30/8/2021- 0.1860 - 28,807,160 - - 28,807,160 333
29/8/2024
] 201 F 202158 /308

8F30A F2024%58A29A

11,132,169 36,008,950 - (3,710,723) 43,430,3% 5.02

* The exercise price and the amount of the share options had been adjusted due to * ERENTEELSECED IR 202054

the share consolidation and rights issue completed in April 2020 and May 2020 A % 20204 5 A SR B AR (5 & OF R AR AR/ 1F
respectively. HFHEE o
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21.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The fair value of 3,710,723 share options (as adjusted) granted
under the Share Option Scheme on 17 January 2020 was
determined to be approximately HK$284,000 with reference to a
valuation performed by an independent firm of professional valuer
using a binomial model. The Company recognised a share option
expense HK$284,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020. The
inputs into the model included grant date adjusted share price of
HK$0.234, adjusted exercise price HK$0.2432 per share, expected
volatility of 81.90% determined based on historical volatility of the
Company’s shares, expected option life of one year, no expected
dividend and estimated risk-free interest rate of 1.58%.

The fair values of 36,008,950 share options granted during the
year ended 31 December 2021 under the Share Option Scheme
on 24 May 2021 and 30 August 2021 were determined to be
approximately HK$660,000 and HK$2,233,000 respectively
with reference to a valuation performed by an independent firm
of professional valuer using a binomial model. The Company
recognised share option expense of HK$2,893,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2021. The inputs into the model included grant
date adjusted share price of HK$0.23 and HK$0.186 respectively,
expected volatility of 71.91% and 71.70% determined based on
historical volatility of the Company’s shares for the past 156 weeks,
expected option life of three years, no expected dividend and
estimated risk-free interest rate of 0.26% and 0.31% respectively.

There is no vesting period of the share options granted and the
share options outstanding as at 31 December 2020 and 2021 were
11,132,169 and 43,430,396 respectively.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 46,993,566 share options outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme, which represented approximately 3.63% of the Company’s
share in issue as of that date.

1. BRERTE (&)

720204 1 A 17 BIRIERERRERT I H
#3,710,723  EEARE R A TE (KL HAE)
Th2E—RBALARNEEGEMER
—IEAE TR EREE B4 284,000
FEIT cEIE 202012 A1 BIEEE A
AR HEREE IR ¥ 284,00078 7T © %18
AMBEABERENRNE L BN EAE
IRESTR0.234 8T - EARITEETR
0.2432% 7t ~ TEEK 18 81.90% (IR 1%
AAaROELRIBMEE) - BHIRE
PRAEFHER 1 F - WETB AR B RIGETER
B Fl| 2 1.58% ©

HE2021F 12831 BIEFE - 72021
F5H24H%202198 A30 HIREER
FE 5T 8195 H 49 36,008,950 15 BB IR AEHY 2
FEDNIZE-RBIULABNBEEGHER
FARAZEARAETHHEETAD
#9660,0007% 7T % 2,233,000/ 7 - H =
20215 12 A31 BIEFE - AR ERERE
BRI X 2,893,000 T © IR HE A
HEPENRL BHRNEAERETR
D RA0.237%7T K 0.186 87T  FEEDS IR
71.91% %.71.70% (JOREAR R B H A
BAS6EMEL KIBMETE) - BEE
fRFEFEI3F - WETEHR S RIEFHER
BHES RN A026% 5%0.31% °

EERHMERETESZBES  KR2020
FR20215F12 A31 HEAITEZER
WS RIA11,132,16919 & 43,430,396 17 ©

R EZEM B mE AR AR W
ABBEEREASTENERER
46,993,566  IE AR R AINZ B EIE &
1T 43.63% °
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22. ISSUED CAPITAL 22. EBITRAE
Number of Nominal
shares amount
R EE [
HK$
BT
Issued and fully paid BEITRER
Ordinary shares of nominal amount R2021 12 A31 BEREE
HK$0.04 each at 31 December 2021 0.04 7T 2 &A% 864,214,887 34,568,595
Ordinary shares of nominal amount M20205F 12 A31 HERMEE
HK$0.04 each at 31 December 2020 0.048 Lz LMWK 600,149,228 24,005,969
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as RARRAESFMAT -
follows:
Share
Number of Issued premium
shares in issue capital account Total
ERITRAEE BRITRE R EEE @5t
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
At 1 January 2020 7R2020F1 A1 H 1,388,246,794 13,882,468 127,540,435 141,422,903
Share consolidation (Note (a)) A&7 & 6t (Fi 5 (a)) (1,041,185,096) - - -
Rights issue (Note (b)) H A% (B 3E (b)) 253,087,530 10,123,501 30,370,503 40,494,004
At 31 December 2020 and 7R2020F 12 A31H R
1 January 2021 2021F 1 A1 H 600,149,228 24,005,969 157,910,938 181,916,907
Placing in May 2021 20215 AldE
(Note (0)) (B () 120,029,845 4,801,194 16,694,238 21,495,432
Placing in November 2021 BH2021F 11 AELE
(Note (d)) (BFE(d) 144,035,814 5,761,432 17,453,655 23,215,087
At 31 December 2021 R2021F12A31H 864,214,887 34,568,595 192,058,831 226,627,426
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22. ISSUED CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

On 7 April 2020, the Company completed share consolidation of every four
issued and unissued share of par value HK$0.01 each into one consolidated
share of par value of HK$0.04, the authorised share capital of the Company
became HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 25,000,000,000 consolidated shares of
HK$0.04 each, of which 347,061,698 consolidated shares had been in issue, the
board lot size for trading on the Stock Exchange changed from 20,000 shares to
10,000 consolidated shares.

On 15 May 2020, the Company raised approximately HK$39.6 million, net of
expenses by way of the rights issue of 253,087,530 rights shares on the basis
of one rights share for every one consolidated share at the subscription price of
HK$0.16 per rights share.

On 21 May 2021, a total of 120,029,845 ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each
were placed at a price of HK$0.18 per share (the “Placing in May 2021") for
a total cash consideration, before the related issue expense, of approximately
HK$21.6 million. The issued and fully paid capital of the Company was
increased to approximately HK$28.81 million and resulted in a share premium of
approximately HK$16.69 million, after deducting the share placement expense
of HK$109,940. The net proceeds of the Placing in May 2021, after deduction
of the costs of the Company, were subsequently applied for the investments of
the Company in line with its ordinary course of business and pursuant to the
investment objectives of the Company and for the general working capital of the
Company to meet the running expenses of the Company such as rental and staff
costs.

On 2 November 2021, a total of 144,035,814 ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each
were placed at a price of HK$0.162 per share (the “Placing in November 2021")
for a total cash consideration, before the related issue expense, of approximately
HK$23.33 million. The issued and fully paid capital of the Company was
increased to approximately HK$34.57 million and resulted in a share premium
of approximately HK$17.45 million, after deducting the share placement
expense of HK$118,715. The net proceeds of the Placing in November 2021,
after deduction of the costs of the Company, were subsequently applied for
the investments of the Company in line with its ordinary course of business
and pursuant to the investment objectives of the Company and for the general
working capital of the Company to meet the running expenses of the Company
such as rental and staff costs.

22. EBITRA (&)

W

(a)

MR2020F4 78 RABIEKBEEHNRE
REE0.01 BTz BEITRAFITRN A B
A—BREREECMBILZEMHERNG AR
A 2SR E AN S £ 4 1,000,000,000 8T © 5
/%25,000,000,000 fx &R FEI{E0.04 & T2 &
BHR% 5 - E P B 317347,061,698 8% & Hf iR
7 RERFEE 2 BF 8 &EE(1H20,000
R A% 17 BB 24 & 10,000 PR & BF AR 1) ©

2020654158 - RAFEFE B AR
77 R 877 253,087,530 B AL B IR 1D (IR &5
B —RA RN — IR AR (D 2 R
REEAEREBBM0.16BT)  FE£LD
39,600,000 7T (FIm Az &) °

M20214F5A21 8 RARIZEEEA0.18
7 L& A $£120,029,845 1% & B E0.04
BT LB ([2021Fs AREEHE]) -
AR AR & R E (0% A BT A
#921,600,0008 7T ° AR AIHC 31T AR
fi% 7K 38 Z= #928,810,000 78 JT I B A A% 9 it
B AR 47 16,690,000 7T (FN k& A% 0 Bl & F 2
109,94058 7014 ) ° 202145 AR EEBEH T
SRIEFEE (R AQ R ANE ) Ba 14 AR IR
AARREBEARFAHEAEEBRIEY
ANARRE BARARR—BEBES N
BNARNEZ EERT (MHEE KRB IRA) °

MR2021F 1M1 A28 AR AIEERER
0.162 % LBl & & #£144,035,814 [ F X
B0.04B L@ ([2021F11 AlE S
B - AERBIRSRE GNREREETH
S AT) 923,330,000 7T c AR EIMEEITR
2 2 BR AN 32 2 4934,570,000 78 ol 2 A B 15
B BR 4917,450,00078 7T ($1BR A1 BL & 57
118,715 7L1%) 2021 F 11 AR & =18
BTSSR IEF 58 (FOBR AR RIMI A AN1R ) BE 1R
BREAARBEBZANRFGAEBTELR
BZARFERE  BARRARE—REESL
SUBNARARIZEERT (WHSRET
KA ©
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23.

24,

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

The calculation of net asset value per share is based on the net
assets of the Company as at 31 December 2021 of HK$113,735,993
(2020: HK$71,112,713) and on 864,214,887 ordinary shares being
in issue as at 31 December 2021 (2020: 600,149,228 ordinary
shares).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the related party transactions detailed elsewhere
in these financial statements, the Company had the following
transactions with related parties during the Year:

Investment Manager — Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong)
Limited

The Investment Manager is responsible to manage, supervise and
direct the investment, disposition and re-investment of the assets of
the Company, on a discretionary basis, but subject to the investment
objective and restrictions of the Company. The Investment Manager
is entitled to receive management fees for its respective services in
terms of the agreement dated 30 November 2020. Details of the
fees to which the Investment Manager is entitled are provided in
Note 11 to the financial statements. The Directors consider the key
management personnel of the Company comprise of its Board of
Directors, whose remuneration is shown in Note 8 to the financial
statements.
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 25. BERESEMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial EeBMITAERNNREHARZEEEN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: ™~
2021 20216
Financial assets SRMEE
Financial assets Financial
at fair value assets at
through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
BARE REs
BEBRERIE B iRz
ZEMEE CREE S
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT

Financial assets measured at amortised AB KX RN EHN S REE ¢

cost:

— Financial assets included in deposits ~ —&T ARG B & BEE - 126,740 126,740
— Other receivables — H b JE U IE - 1,305,918 1,305,918
— Amounts due from brokers — U R AFIR - 240,723 240,723
— Cash and cash equivalents -RekReEE - 2,277,187 2,277,187

Financial assets at fair value through IR AFEBBIERIIEZ
profit or loss: EWEE
— Financial assets at fair value —BATEERBERIIER
through profit or loss JERMEE 109,354,628 - 109,354,628

109,354,628 3,950,568 113,305,196

Financial liabilities EMmas

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R 48 85 B A< 51 BR
ZEmEmaE
HK$

BT

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost: NE#HER AT ENESME E

— Other payables and accruals — B fth SRR R R B A 1,168,447
— Lease liability —-HEBE 924,560
2,093,007
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 25 ZEREsEMIA (&)
(Continued)
2020 20204
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets Financial
at fair value assets at
through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
BAYE R
FiBERTIE BARSIBR 2
LEREE CREE Bt
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT

Financial assets measured at amortised AR At EN S MERE ¢

cost:

- Financial assets included in deposits ~ —&T AR & 0 & BVEE - 72,205 72,205
— Other receivables —H b U ERIR - 4,118,049 4,118,049
— Amounts due from brokers — R 48 AFOR - 500,226 500,226
— Cash and cash equivalents -HekReEFE - 2,000,472 2,000,472

Financial assets at fair value through AT AEBZBEZRIIE
profit or loss: TREE:
- Financial assets at fair value through  — & A FEFE BB
profit or loss LERMEE 70,545,419 = 70,545,419

70,545,419 6,690,952 77,236,371

Financial liabilities HEaE

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R AT BR
ZEmas

HK$

BT

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost: DB AT ENEREE -

— Other payables and accruals —Hib R RIBEREETER 1,761,306
— Amount due to a broker — R — R 440 AFE 4,659,540
— Lease liability -HEARE 77,107

6,497,953
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 26. AV {EFE
(a) Fair value hierarchy (a) DAFEZSH

The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining RARIRANTERETE REE
and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments: eI AMNQFE:
Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets F—H - EEKBERER
for identical assets or liabilities 358 MB CREFHE)
Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input FEoH—HEKTF@AEEELH
that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or ERTEREE BHATEHEZ
indirectly observable B ERR G E R
Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level F=B—FEKFRABRTAIH
of input that is significant to the fair value measurement is R BHAFEFEBEAN
unobservable AR

31 December 2021
202112 A31H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
-8 E-& ER st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Financial assets at fair value through R AF{EBEBEZEEZ
profit or loss: PRAE:
Listed il
— Equity securities —ERES 30,512,545 - 1,360,000 31,872,545
Unlisted FLm
— Private equities —TLERE - - 39,112,000 39,112,000
- Unlisted bond &% - - 14,988,781 14,988,781
— Promissory notes —-RHEEE - - 23,381,302 23,381,302

30,512,545 - 78,842,083 109,354,628
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26. A F{EFTE (&)

(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (a) 2FEZH(E)

26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

31 December 2020
2020F 12 A31H

140

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—R EF-R E=1 @t
HK$ HKS HKS HK$
BT o BT BT
Financial assets at fair value through Z AT EBEBEBEHSIKZ
profit or loss: SHEE -
Listed tm
— Equity securities — R 28,892,075 - 3,798,344 32,690,419
Unlisted LMW
— Private equities —LERE - 20,855,000 20,855,000
— Promissory notes - HRRLEE - 17,000,000 17,000,000
28,892,075 - 41,653,344 70,545,419

When fair values of listed and quoted investments at the
reporting date are based on quoted market prices in active
market, without any deduction for transaction costs, the
instruments are within Level 1 of the hierarchy.

When fair values of equity securities at the reporting date
represent quoted prices in market that are considered less
than active or consensus prices derived by third parties using
valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or
indirectly observable from market data, those equity securities
are included within Level 2 of the hierarchy.

For all other financial instruments, the Company determines
fair value using valuation techniques.

Valuations are the responsibility of the Board of directors of
the Company. The valuation of investment in the suspended
listed equity securities, the private equity securities, promissory
notes and unlised bond are performed by management of
the Company and reviewed by the investment committee
of the Company. The investment committee considers the
appropriateness of the valuation method and inputs, and
may request alternative valuation methods applied to support
the valuation arising from the method chosen. Any changes
in valuation methods are discussed and agreed with the
Company’s Board of Directors.
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The fair value of suspended listed equity securities investments
which do not resume trading in a short period of time
subsequent to reporting date, for which there is an absence
of quoted price, have been arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out as at that date by independent qualified
professional valuer not connected with the Company. The
valuation of the investments in these suspended listed
equity securities investments using guideline publicly traded
comparable method (“GTPC”) under market approach or
adjusted net assets value method under cost approach as
appropriate and are within level 3 of fair value hierarchy.

In the GPTC method, the fair value is based on prices of stocks
of similar companies which are trading in a public market. A
“value measure”, which is usually a multiple computed by
dividing the price of the guideline company’s stock as at the
valuation date by some relevant economic variable observed or
calculated from the guideline company’s financial statements,
is then applied to the investee’s economic variable and the
resultant valuation is then adjusted by a marketability discount
to arrive at the fair value measurement of the suspended
investments. Such valuation methods are generally accepted
in the industry. The model incorporates unobservable data
inputs, which include market value of invested capital multiples
and the marketability discount ratio, as described below.

The Company invested in private equities which are not quoted
in an active market. The fair value of the private equities at 31
December 2021 and 31 December 2020 have been arrived
at on the basis of a valuation carried out as at that date by
independent qualified professional valuer not connected
with the Company and estimated by the management. The
valuation of the investments in these private entities used
discounted cash flows (“DCF") projections under income
approach based on estimates made by management of the
Company or adjusted net assets value (“Adjusted NAV")
method under cost approach as appropriate and are within
level 3 of fair value hierarchy.

26. A F{EFTE (&)

(a)

DFEER ()

HEFEEE LMESESZRER
HERRREMEAREREER
BEYERE  MEAFEDER
EARRAL EEHABLAERE
EhHEMRZAELNEEAES
b ZEFEEFEEE LMERESZ
BRERBEMSERABAREETE
bgtEsl [RARESEA & LBE
Sl ERRIBR LR T HEE
EFEE(ER) £174E - A
RAFEERZF=ZMRA -

ERAREERAIELBESDED &
FETABURREAFT SR
NEEERARE - [EBEFEB
FREGHR  HEFFEERNIE
Sl R BIRMEE B EE A B ER A
eI R AN B wR DB RN
AAEMEHE THEBEEZE - 2
BRERNARERANKEEZEE -
MALELENEELHSREE
AR UAGHEFREEZRE
MAFEME - ZAEZIEERAR
o ZAEELEAE T SRR N AT B AR
ZEpe AE(BRMRERANTE
ETGREBEIEER)

RRARFRE R FLEREE RIRE
PR ) T 35 0 M SR (B 0 22021 4F
12 H318 %2020 128318
FERENATFETERERAF
W R E L & B EEGERM
RZBERMHBELESEEENG
FIETESHE RERELEEB KR
BRBERA R B E R ERT1ERM
Frz W E AR ARRIRE 27 ([ 8538
RER]) BRI SRR A A VEER A 3
BREEFE(AREETE]D TZE
(&) ETHE - LKA FE
EWE=RA -
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The Company invested in promissory notes and unlisted bond
which are not quoted in an active market. The fair value of
the promissory notes and unlisted bond at 31 December 2021
have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out
as at that date by qualified professional valuer not connected
with the Company. The valuation of the investments in these
promissory notes and unlisted bond used DCF projections
under income approach based on principal and interest
outstanding on estimates made by management of the
Company as appropriate and are within level 3 of fair value
hierarchy.

A DCF analysis involves forecasting the appropriate future cash
flow streams over an appropriate period and then discounting
it back to a present value at an appropriate discount rate.
This discount rate should consider the time value of money,
inflation, and the risks inherent in ownership of the asset or
security interest being valued.
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 26. NF{EFE ()
(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (a) AFEZSH(E)

The Adjusted NAV method calls for a summation of the fair AREEFETEZHBR —HERE
values of all assets belonging to an entity and a reduction of WEEEEMN A FEEET - Wi
that aggregate by the fair values of that entity’s total liabilities. ﬂl BEZEBBEEBEN R TER
The fair value is represented by the adjusted book value of cAFHEIEEELBENMRERE
total assets net of liabilities owed to any person other than the Eﬁ’&ﬁ BE&mEE AMIMERALTZ
beneficial owners of the subject company, after adjusting for BERZKHAEZERRE YOS
any necessary discounts or premiums to the book values of the EREEREE ERKEER
assets and liabilities to reflect their market values. T EEHFAEA R ETE -
Quantitative information of significant unobservable EATTBEWAEHEEEZH —
inputs - Level 3 E=4

Relationship of

Key unobservable
Valuation unobservable Value of inputs to
Description Fair value techniques inputs input fair value
IETUEE FABRBAESR
9t 8 DVE fRERN BWAR BAEBE AVEZBR
HK$'000
THET
As at 31 December 2021
R2021512A318
Equity security in Hong Kong 1,360  Guideline Market value of 0.36  Higher the Sales higher
publicly traded invested capital the fair value
comparable multiples to Sales
method
ERRGES 1360 FAAIELR RERZTE 036 HEREHS
tHol& FAHER ATEER
Marketability 50%  Higher the marketability
discount discount, lower the
fair value
mERBENE 50% MHRBETEES
RTEBIE
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 26. AR EFE (&)

(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (a) AFEZSH(E)
Quantitative information of significant unobservable BEATJBEEWAEBYEEER —
inputs — Level 3 (Continued) F=4R(E)
Relationship of
Key unobservable
Valuation unobservable Value of inputs to
Description Fair value techniques inputs input  fair value
FEFTBR THEERMAER
8 AVE HEEN BWAE WABEE AVEZEE
HK$'000
THRT
As at 31 December 2021 (Continued)
2021512 A318 (&)
Unlisted equity securities 33,682 Discounted cash Discount rate for 11.32% to  Higher the discount
flows discounting 16.43% rate, lower the fair
estimated cash value
flows
FLTHRES 33682 HEEER BERARERE NRNZE RIS
ZHRE 1643%  DTFEHE
Discount rate 15% t0 30%  Higher the discount
for lack of rate of lack of
marketability marketability, lower
the fair value
PN ikiden 15% £30% frOmgRmite
BRE BBz
DTHEBIE
Unlisted equity securities 5250 Adjusted net assets  Discount rate 11.40% to  Higher the discount
value method for lack of 15.80% rate of lack of
marketability marketability, lower
the fair value
FrERES 5250 REEEFERE RITHRAMLER 1140%%E  BRAOTHRBIERD
BRE 1580%  BBREHE -
AVESE
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a)

26. A F{EFTE (&)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) () AFESHGEAE)
Quantitative information of significant unobservable BEATJBEEWAEBYEEER —
inputs — Level 3 (Continued) F=4R(E)
Relationship of
Key unobservable
Valuation unobservable Value of inputs to
Description Fair value techniques inputs input  fair value
ITEFTBR TAEERMAER
8 AYE HEREN BWAE WABEE AYEZHEE
HK$'000
THRT
As at 31 December 2021 (Continued)
2021512 A318 (&)
Promissory notes 23,381  Discounted cash Discount rate for 7.61% to  Higher the discount
flows discounting 11.29% rate, lower the fair
estimated cash value
flows
EHERE 23381 REEER BHRHARERE 761% %2 HREHS
ZHRE 1129%  AFEBE
Unlisted bond 14,989  Discounted cash Discount rate for 9.82%  Higher the discount
flows discounting rate, lower the fair
estimated cash value
flows
FLMES 14989 HERER BEGHRS 982% HREYS
MELHRE NEEBE
As at 31 December 2020
R20205 128318
Equity security in Hong Kong 2,795 Guideline Market value of 3.12  Higher the EBITDA,
publicly traded invested capital higher the fair value
comparable multiples to
method EBITDA
BERGES 2,795 LHAIELR FrRERZME 312 EBITDAME -
LIV FLAEBITDA ATEEE
Marketability 75%  Higher the marketability
discount discount, lower the
fair value
miGnmEE 75% MHSREEMENS
ATEBIE
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 26. X ¥{EFHE (&)
(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (a) AFEZSH(E)
Quantitative information of significant unobservable BEATJBEEWAEBYEEER —
inputs — Level 3 (Continued) F=4R(E)

Relationship of

Key unobservable
Valuation unobservable Value of inputs to
Description Fair value techniques inputs input  fair value
FEFTBR TUBER\EHE
8 AVE HEEN BWAE WABEE AVEZEE
HK$'000
THRT

As at 31 December 2020 (Continued)

12020512 A31 8 (&)

Equity security in Hong Kong 440  Guideline Market value of 0.53  Higher the Sales higher
publicly traded invested capital the fair value
comparable multiples to Sales
method

BEERES 440 EMAEHE MRER A 053 HEHEHR-

Bal& FIANHESR AEEER
Marketability 75%  Higher the marketability
discount discount, lower the
fair value
mERBENE 75% THRBEMELS
AFEBE

Equity security in Hong Kong 563 Adjusted net assets  Lack of control 75%  Higher the lack of
value method discount control discount,

lower the fair value

BERGES 563 ABBEZEAZE HRZIEHIRENE 75% T EHETELS

NFEEE
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a)

26. A F{EFTE (&)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) () AFESHGEAE)
Quantitative information of significant unobservable BEATJBEEWAEBYEEER —
inputs — Level 3 (Continued) F=4R(E)
Relationship of
Key unobservable
Valuation unobservable Value of inputs to
Description Fair value techniques inputs input  fair value
ITEFTBR TAEERMAER
9t B AYE HEREN BWAE WABEE AYEZHEE
HK$'000
THRT
As at 31 December 2020 (Continued)
142020512 A31H (%)
Unlisted equity securities 14,465  Discounted cash Discount rate for ~ 15% t0 15.36%  Higher the discount
flows discounting rate, lower the fair
estimated cash value
flows
FLTHRRES 14,465 HRRER BERRHBERE 15%F1536% HREHR -
ZHRE ATEBIE
Discount rate 25% 1030%  Higher the discount
for lack of rate of lack of
marketability marketability, lower
the fair value
PN ikiden 25%F30% HROTHBILL
LipE R AREHS
DTHEBIE
Unlisted equity securities 6,390 Adjusted net assets  N/A NA  N/A
value method
LRSS 6390 HEEBEZEHZ THER NER TER

FEFTAEREAR AR/ FIR 2021

147



Notes to Financial Statements

B H5 Rk B et

31 December 2021 2021512A31H

26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 26. X ¥{EFHE (&)
(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (a) AFEZSH(E)
Quantitative information of significant unobservable BEATJBEEWAEBYEEER —
inputs — Level 3 (Continued) F=4R(E)

Relationship of

Key unobservable
Valuation unobservable Value of inputs to
Description Fair value techniques inputs input  fair value
FEFTBR THEERMAER
8 AVE HEEN BWAE WABEE AVEZEE
HK$'000
TER
As at 31 December 2020 (Continued)
12020512 A31 8 (&)
Promissory notes 17,000 Discounted cash Discount rate for 19.11% to  Higher the discount
flows discounting 29.08% rate, lower the fair
estimated cash value
flows
FARE 17,000 HEFELR BERARERE 1911% %  BBRXHE
ZHRE 29.08%  ATEHE
The fair value measurements of the investments in private TLERE BEEECLTERES
equities, suspended listed equity securities, promissory EEEBRIELTEFRE Z A FER
notes and unlisted bond are recognised as Level 3 fair value ERRBE=—LAFETE °
measurements.
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Quantitative information of significant unobservable
inputs — Level 3 (Continued)

The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 during
the Year are as follows:

26. A F{EFTE (&)

(a)

DFEER ()

BEAFTHEGABHEEELH -
E=AR(E)

AFEESHATESELB N
™

2021 2020

20214 20204

HK$ HK$

BT BT

At 1 January ®n1A1H 41,653,344 30,800,817
Purchases BE 60,971,254 20,941,000
Sell HE (17,000,000) (2,798,916)
Transfer from level 3 to level 1 ME=ZFEREE R (3,358,344) -
Total loss recognised in profit and loss #1825 NAERR 2 51 4258 (3,424,171) (7,289,557)
At 31 December ®12H31H 78,842,083 41,653,344

For financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, the total
gains or losses recognised, including those for assets held at
the end of reporting period, are presented in profit or loss
in “net change in fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss”.

During the Year, the Company reclassified two listed equity
securities from Level 3 to Level 1 following the resumption of
trading of the investments. Those financial assets are namely
Town Health International Medical Group Limited (stock code:
3886) and Lerado Financial Group Company Limited (stock
code: 1225).

Transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy, are deemed to
have occurred at the date of the resumption of tradings of the
investment.

WEATEEBBRIIEY S HE
EME  DRRZWSSEEERE
(BERREBRAERSEEY
Wk B) IR IR 2 BB
ATEEBRRIIE 2WAED
TERHFE] -

RAFE  RRTIRIREEEIRE
BRKMIB EMREERESBE=RE
FAHEEE—R -ZESREER
FEREERBESEEAR AR (M
R5% - 3886) MEK S RIEEHR
ANal (BHAIE 1225) o

RHEERER 2 HNBEBIRR S
RIEBEEWERHEEE -
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26. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Quantitative information of significant unobservable
inputs - Level 3 (Continued)

During the Year, there were no transfer of fair value
measurement between Level 1 and Level 2 and a transfer of
HK$3,358,344 out of Level 3 fair value measurement.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, these were no
transfer of fair value measurement between Level 1 and
Level 2 and no transfer into or out of Level 3 fair value
measurement.

The Company did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

27. NOTE TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

Major non-cash transactions

During the Year, the Company had HK$1,115,126 of additions
to right-of-use asset and lease liability, in respect of lease
arrangements for office premises (2020: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the redemption
receivable from a private equity fund, namely Quasar Global
Selection SPC Fund — Shenzhen Qianhai Glory Fund SP, of
HK$2,782,338 was transferred into the shares of private
equity, namely Forever Best Investments Limited.

The Company entered into a contract for consultancy services
by converting two of the expired promissory notes during the
year amounted HK$700,000.

The Company has acquired additional shares of a private
equity security, namely Gransing Financial Group Limited,
amounted HK$3,578,000 by converting one of the expired
promissory notes during the Year.
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(a)

DFEER ()
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27. NOTE TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

27. BERERMHE (B)

(b) REMEEFHZEESH

Lease liability
HESE
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At 1 January Bm1A1H 77,107 256,486
New leases entered ERIZFHEE 1,115,126 -
Repayment of principal portion of BEHEARNA D

leas liability (267,673) (179,379)
At 31 December ®12H31H 924,560 77,107

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Company’s objective in managing financial risks is the creation
and protection of shareholders’ value. The ultimate responsibility in
defining and maintaining the Company’s risk control framework,
setting the appropriate risk parameters for the Company and in
continuously monitoring compliance of the Company’s portfolio with
the investment objective and policies and investment restrictions lies
with the Board of Directors of the Company, that will be advised by
the Investment Manager.

A risk committee consisting of executive director and an
independent non-executive director has been formed to monitor the
operational and portfolio risks to the Company. The risk committee
will monitor the Investment Manager including reviewing whether
the investment objective and policies and investment restrictions
are being followed by the Investment Manager. In case of any
deviation, the risk committee will discuss deviations with the
Investment Manager immediately and monitor any agreed remedial
action. For all material deviations the risk committee will formulate
recommendations to the Board on the appropriate remedial actions
to be made. The risk committee will meet on a monthly basis, or
more regularly if a meeting is requested by any risk committee
member.

8. MBEMEERBFEREEK

ARRABNHBRREEBRIEERRK
BRREE ARAREFEAARER
REARQANRBRZEFER REAR
ARENRARSBEFEEREARRN
KREMANERREBRRBENKRE
REMWREET REEEABRLAE
FeRHER -

ARFRERIEREZEE  KEBREH
TEENBIFNTES  UEEEARD
AMEEREEAARER -EREZES
RERREBEANKE  BEEAR
EEEAECRERREBRERBRME
BR% - WA THAREE RRZEEH
IR B4R & B 1R A B A I B 1S L 3 B 2%
ERERZENERITE - BRAEER
MIRBEER - ARZEEKRAESTSE
HRBUEE fRITBNER - AREZS
eBARE R MEFMEKRESSK
BERARNEHEZREK -
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 28. IKERMEEREEREE ()

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and
the value of individual securities. The Company is exposed to equity
price risk arising from individual equity investments classified as
listed equity securities and investment in private equities which are
classified in the statement of financial position as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss in Note 16 as at the end of the
reporting period.

The sensitivity analysis below demonstrates management'’s best
estimate of the effect on the loss and net assets attributable to equity
holders of the Company due to a reasonably possible change in
equity indices or fair values of the listed investments with all other
variables held constant. In practice, the actual trading results may
differ from the sensitivity analysis below and the difference could be
material.

Listed equity securities

The Company's investments in listed equity securities are listed on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and Australian Securities Exchange.

The market equity indices for the following stock exchanges, at the
close of business of the nearest trading day in the year to the end of
the reporting period, and their respective highest and lowest points
during the years were as follows:

IR R B E R

REER R EREHEEOKTE RER
BHEEZHMBERNERESLTE
TERE R - NS BRAR R FEE
BWREEERRIRE DR AENERK
B ZERESERLTREREELER
MR EANERIERATFEE BB
AEBMEEINR 2 ALERERE (M
16) °

A THREIMIREERBEEMEE
FRIETENBERT  EREHRFZEH
HEMREZ AT EREAEEDHFE
ARABEDRFEARIGERREEFE
FRER R EMRG - EEEF  BEXS
BRUGETNNHRESNTEMTE
ERFEEKXN -

LR EF

ARRRZ LTEREFREINE B
R RRMNE SR SR LT o

FRAEREHRRNFORZ B EERH
BRI TIERRZANT ISR ERE
g URARBEFESEENGER LRE
RELAR

31 December 2021 High/low
20219128318 oV
Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index BB -BEEH 23,397.67 31,183.36/22,665.25
31 December 2020 High/low
2020412 A31H =,/ 1K
Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index BE—IBEEH 27,231.13 29,174.92/21,139.26
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AND POLICIES (Continued)

Equity price risk (Continued)
Listed equity securities (Continued)

2021

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

28.

IR RE R ()

L EE ()

20214

% of reasonable
possible change
of the relevant

HHEREEEERBE (&)

Change in loss
and net assets

Relevant market index Beta benchmark index (before tax effect)
HBEEEREHEE BEREEZEED
HETSEH 2 AR BN E 2 (BRBLFE L AT
HKS$
BT
Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index & — B4 5 0.337 +10 +1,074,105
2020 20204
% of reasonable
possible change Change in loss
of the relevant and net assets
Relevant market index Beta benchmark index (before tax effect)
EREEEESHAE EBFELEEFEHE
TERE T S E & Hg AlEEE BN B St (BB E A
HK$
BT
Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index &8 — B4 0.379 +10 +1,238,967
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 28. IKERMEEREEREE ()

154

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Equity price risk (Continued)
Private equities

At 31 December 2021, the loss (2020: loss) before tax would
decrease/increase by approximately HK$3,911,200 for the private
equities (2020: HK$2,085,500) should the fair values of the
investments increase/decrease by 10% (2020: 10%).

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Company will encounter
difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
Exposure to liquidity risk arises because of the possibility that the
Company could be required to pay its liabilities earlier than expected.
To limit this risk, management monitors the Company’s liquidity
position from time to time.

The Company aims to maintain sufficient cash to meet its liquidity
requirements by the ongoing monitoring of cash positions and
future cash flows. The following table summarises the maturity
profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within six months equal their
carrying amounts, as the impact of discounting is insignificant. The
table also analyses the maturity profile of the Company’s financial
assets (undiscounted where appropriate) in order to provide a
complete view of the Company’s contractual commitments and
liquidity.

The maturity grouping of financial liabilities is based on the
remaining period from the end of the reporting period to the
contractual maturity date. When a counterparty has a choice of
when the amount is paid, the liability is allocated to the earliest
period in which the Company can be required to pay.

Analysis of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss into
maturity groupings is based on the expected date on which these
assets will be realised. For other assets, the analysis into maturity
groupings is based on the remaining period from the end of the
reporting period to the contractual maturity date or, if earlier, the
expected date on which the assets will be realised.
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RERE

MR2021F 12 A31H Wi EZ R FE
ERR T B 10% (20204 : 10% ) » FL
HEWEZBRRATEE (20204F : Fi8)
A48 HN493,911,200 % 7T (2020 4F ¢
2,085,500 7T) °

REBE S E M

REBETRRERNRAGHABRITH
DREXAINEHEEEESRAR
METHER - RBESEBRRERAR
Bl BER B RIR AT EEERS - SR B
R EEEETHERARANRD
BRI ©

ARRFREEER SN RRER SR
EEERTHEAS UWneERBER
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 28. IKERMEEREEREE ()
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) REESEE (F)
At 31 December 2021 "2021F12A31H
3to Contractual Total
Less than less than 1t05 No fixed  undiscounted rrying
On demand 3months 12 months years maturity  cash flows amount
3EAE BEE AHARR
REX  HW3ER  HWNER 125% 38R Reiig REAE
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HK$

An Ar A An A B An

Financial assets included in deposits HARENERARE - - - 126,740 - 126,740 126,740
Other receivables EftfediR 908,219 397,699 - 1305918 1,305,918
Amounts due from brokers AR ASE 4073 - - - - 4073 1073
Financial assets at far value through RATEERARTEL

profitor loss £HEE 0512505 114985211 2687152 1360000 39112000 109354628 109,354,628
Cash and cash equivalents ReRAeEh 2217181 - - - - 8
Total financal assets LREELE B0ASS 12406740 27269261 1486740 39112000 11330519 11330519
Other payables and acaruals AMERFERETER - 1118446 - - - 1M18M6 1118446
Lease liabils HEAR - 105,840 317,50 555,072 - 978,432 924,560
Total financal iabiftes SHAREE - 1242 317,50 555,072 - 209878 2,093,006
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 28. IKERMEEREEREE ()
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) nEELSEE (F)
At 31 December 2020 20205612 A31H
3t Contractual Total
Less than less than 105 Nofied  undiscounted anying
On demand 3 months 12 months years maturity cash flows amount
3fARE BET ANANE
BREX  JI3ER SRNER 1555 548 Beig ERAE
HKS HK§ HKS HKS HK$ HKS HKS

A1 £ &1 £ £ A1 1

Financial assets included in deposits TAEENERAR - - - 72,205 - 72,05 72,205
Other receivables At EWEE - 138 - S T8 ANBMM9 4118049
Amount due from brokers UL AR 261302 38924 - - - 500,26 500,226
Financial assets at far value through RATEERARTIE L

proft orloss REE 2880075 2000000 15000000 3798344 20855000 70545419 70545419
Cash and cash equivalents BelBe%R 2000472 - - - - 2000472 2000472
Totalfinancial assets SHEELE 31353849 3382151 15000000 3870549 23629822 7136371 71236371
Other payables AtERFE 1,098,008 663,278 - - - 1761306 1761306
Amounts due to brokers EREEAE 4,595,284 4,256 - - - 4659540 4659540
Lease liabiltes 126 - 15,870 31,566 - - 71436 77,107
Total financial liabiltes CHERERE 5,693312 773,404 31,566 - - 649828 6497953
Interest rate risk == & bz
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument MERRIESHTANRKRKIREREN
and future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in market BEEZEMSMNENEMEERE -

interest rates.

The majority of the Company’s interest rate exposure arises from RRAKRBHMERBRER S KRS
cash and cash equivalents and margin accounts payable to brokers. SEMEMELEARESERE -
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 28. IKERMEEREEREE ()
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued) R ==k ()
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Company’s TREA EREEMESRFTER
profit or loss for the year to a reasonably possible change in interest RRAARFEEBHEMNENTAI S IRE
rates, with all other variables held constant. The sensitivity of the B BRRE - AFEEE (BRELAT) 8%
profit or loss for the year (before tax) is the effect of the assumed EREMENREESHE TIEENT
changes in interest rates on: Z:
-~ The net interest for one year, based on the net cash position — ERBEHRAFERESMRZ —
held at the end of the reporting period. FRFEFE -
-~ Changes in fair value of investments for the year, based on - ERWEHAREGTEEESMEEZ
revaluing fixed rate financial assets at the end of the reporting FANERERNTEE
period.
In practice, the actual trading results may differ from the below EEL EBERZEETR EﬁiT st %
sensitivity analysis and the difference could be significant. EoBEmMERNEEZERAEE
Sensitivity  Sensitivity of
of interest changes in
Change in income/ fair value of
Net exposure basis point (expense)  investments

FERA/ REATE
RER N2 (HIBBE ZINYRE

HKS HK$ HKS$
BT BT BT
2021 20215
Cash and cash equivalents BeRkHe%E 2,277,187 £50 +11,386 =
2020 2020
Cash and cash equivalents RekHe%E 2,000,472 +50 +10,002 -
Amounts due to brokers [ERHE 4 AT 4,659,540 +50 423,298 2
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 28. IKERMEEREEREE ()
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AND POLICIES (Continued)

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will
fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The financial assets and financial liabilities of the Company are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars. Since
the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the United States dollar, the
Board of Directors considers the Company’s exposure to foreign
currency risk to be minimal; as such no sensitivity analysis has been
presented in these financial statements.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument
will cause a financial loss for the Company by failing to discharge an
obligation. The Company’s exposure to credit risk is monitored by the
Investment Manager on an ongoing basis.

The Company is exposed to credit risk on its cash and cash
equivalents, promissory notes, unlisted bond and investments placed
with DBS Bank Limited, Public Bank (Hong Kong) Limited and Bank
of Communication Trustee Limited, which management believes is
of high credit quality.

The credit risk on amounts due from brokers is limited because most
of the receivable amounts are from the investments sold which will
be settled shortly after trade date.

The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event the
counterparties fail to perform their obligations without taking into
account of any collateral held as at the reporting date in relation to
each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of
those assets as disclosed in the statement of financial position.
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28.

29.

30.

31.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management

As a result of the ability to issue and repurchase shares, the capital of
the Company can vary depending on subscriptions to the Company
and repurchases by the Company. The primary objectives of the
Company’s capital management are to safeguard the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern and to invest the capital in
investments meeting the description and risk exposure indicated
in the Company’s prospectus. The Investment Manager manages
the capital of the Company in accordance with the Company’s
investment objectives and policies. The Company is not subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 25 February 2022, the Company had raised an approximately
HK$74 million, net of expenses, by way of the rights issue of
432,107,443 rights shares to the qualifying shareholders at a
subscription price of HK$0.18 per rights share on the basis of one
rights share for every two shares.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other significant event after the
reporting period.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the
current year's presentation.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the Board of Directors on 29 March 2022.

28.

29.

30.

31.

HHEREEEERBE (&)

EXEE

HRARR A ETREERD 28

ARRABNERGEARARERELQM
i ARREAERZ T EBBRIRE
ARBZFELERETEARRAEK
ERMMLRERRNRAERR ZIRER
ANBRZEES - REBEARBARF]
MEREBERBREERNRFNER -
RRABNZINEFHEIEE R EKAIR

BEHREE

R2022F 28258 ARBIEEEY
74,000,000 7T (1) + AR &M
BERBRRIAGREIRRN 0188 T
REEBRSHEMBRRGEE —IRHER
% 17 2 F AR 432,107,443 AR 41 A% A%

,T/\ o

B EXWEEIN RERERUEEGBE
REH -

EEBEF

ETUBRBFEFENHR  HAA
FEO2TIF -

$F 5 R 2R A9 St

R EHRRDN2022F3 29 EESE
G HLE R AR IR o
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Summary of Financial Information

BB E

31 December 2021 2021512A31H

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Company ARFZAAEATBRFEE 7 EEREENAE
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited 12 (B D B KEZMERE) HylwT
financial statements is set out below:

RESULTS E 3

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
BZ201E  HZ20208  HE19F  HE018F  HE017F
12A31H 1273318 12A31H 1273318 12A318

LEE tFE LEE HEE HEE
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT o B BT BT
REVENUE WA 2,547,989 3,417,09 5,447,693 9,043,558 821,073
LOSS BEFORE TAX BT A 1B (4,980,239)  (31,106,691)  (34,070,940)  (92,959,437)  (509,376,596)
Income Tax FTigH - - - - (1,361,062)
LOSS AND TOTAL AREEBEREEAEN
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR FABERZABELS
THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY (4,980,239)  (31,106,691)  (34,070,940)  (92,959,437)  (510,737,658)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
2021 & 20204 20194 20184 20175
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT o BT BT B
TOTAL ASSETS BEEAE 115,829,000 77,610,666 72,072,506 91,696,300 192,596,874
TOTAL LIABILITIES BELE (2,093,007) (6,497,953)  (10,631,106)  (18,529,266)  (74,417,198)

113,735,993 71,112,713 61,441,400 73,167,034 118,179,676
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